University of Windsor Scholarship at UWindsor

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Theses, Dissertations, and Major Papers

2005

Formation of cycloheptyne-dicobalt hexacarbonyl complexes via Nicholas allylation reactions and ring closing metathesis: Intramolecular 2+2+2 and Pauson-Khand reactions on cycloheptyne complexes.

Ahmed Bashir Mohamed University of Windsor

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Mohamed, Ahmed Bashir, "Formation of cycloheptyne-dicobalt hexacarbonyl complexes via Nicholas allylation reactions and ring closing metathesis: Intramolecular 2+2+2 and Pauson-Khand reactions on cycloheptyne complexes." (2005). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 2147. https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/2147

This online database contains the full-text of PhD dissertations and Masters' theses of University of Windsor students from 1954 forward. These documents are made available for personal study and research purposes only, in accordance with the Canadian Copyright Act and the Creative Commons license—CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution, Non-Commercial, No Derivative Works). Under this license, works must always be attributed to the copyright holder (original author), cannot be used for any commercial purposes, and may not be altered. Any other use would require the permission of the copyright holder. Students may inquire about withdrawing their dissertation and/or thesis from this database. For additional inquiries, please contact the repository administrator via email (scholarship@uwindsor.ca) or by telephone at 519-253-3000ext. 3208.

INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

UM®

Formation of Cycloheptyne-Co₂(CO)₆ Complexes via Nicholas Allylation Reactions & Ring Closing Metathesis: Intramolecular 2+2+2 And Pauson-Khand Reactions On Cycloheptyne Complexes

by

Ahmed Bashir Mohamed

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

through the Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry

in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

at the University of Windsor

Windsor, Ontario, Canada

September 2005

Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre référence ISBN: Our file Notre reterence ISBN:

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadiennesur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant. 1032550

© Ahmed Bashir Mohamed

ABSTRACT

One of the objectives of this thesis was to reduce the formation of vinyl silane side **140a,b,c** & **145** products formed in the 4+3 cycloaddition reactions. By employing allyltrimetal nucleophile **149**, virtually eliminated or reduced to trace amounts these vinyl silane side products observed earlier. DIBAL reduction and *in situ* acetylation, followed by exposuere to BF_3 afforded cycloheptenyne dicobalt complex **156a,b** & **163a**, bearing a allyl trimethyl silane functional group and a silyl group at β -position.

The second and major objective of my thesis was to prepare tethered alkenes or alkynes of cycloheptyne dicobalt complexes. Cyloheptyne dicobalt complexes of **187**, **188**, **215**, and **220** bearing an acetoxy group was prepared by ring closing metathesis. These complexes were functionalized easily via Nicholas reactions in high yields. Tethered alkenes did undergo Pauson-Khand reactions with good to excellent yields furnishing 7,5,5 fused ring systems. While the tethered alkynes did undergo 2+2+2 cycloaddition reactions, giving fused 7,6,5 ring systems, with respectable yield.

iv

DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to all my family, particularly my brother Hussein and his wife Ayan for their support and generosity throughout my studies.

.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my supervisor, Dr. Green for his constant guidance, patience, advice and support throughout my graduate years.

I would like to thank my graduate committee members Dr. Philip Dutton, Dr. Letcher for their help and wisdom. I also would like to thank Dr. John Macintosh for his help in several occasions and Mike Fuerth for his help in NMR spectroscopy, particularly, nOe experiments.

I would also like to thank to all past and present Green group: Manoj Patel and Ruichao Guo who were my guide in the lab for the initial period. Dr. Kevin McKay, Yanfan Lu, Romelo Gibe, Jeanine Malakoti, Joe DiMartino, Yu Ding, Sheida amiralaei for their friendship.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iv
DEDICATION	v
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	x
LIST of ABBREVIATIONS	xv
1.0 Introduction	1
1.1 Strained Cycloalkynes	1
1.2 Nicholas Reaction	4
1.2a Intermolecular Nicholas Reactions	7
1.2b Intramolecular Nicholas Reaction	15
1.2c The Double Nicholas [4+3] Cycloaddition Reactions	22
1.3 Pauson-Khand Reaction	29
1.3a PKR Mechanism	29
1.3b PKR the Early Years: Intermolecular and	
Interamolecular PKR	32
1.3c PKR Recent Progress	36
1.4 2+2+2 Cycloaddition Reactions	42
1.4a Mechanism of 2+2+2	42

vii

2.0 Use of Allyltrimetal Equivalent in	
Nicholas Reactions	46
2.1 4+3 Cycloaddition Reactions: Formation and Elimination	
of Vinylsilane Side Product	46
2.2 Preparation and Nicholas condensation of	
Nucleophile 149	50
2.3 Formation of Silylated Cycloheptenyne	
Cobalt Complexes	54
2.4 Summary	61
2.5 Experimental Section	62
General method	62
Procedure A: Typical complexation reaction	66
Procedure B: Typical Nicholas condensation reactions	69
Procedure C: DIBAL-H Reduction and <i>in-situ</i> Acetylation	71
3.0 Intramolecular Pauson-Khand Reactions	77
3.1 Intermolecular Pauson-Khand Reaction on	
Cycloheptyne-Co ₂ (CO) ₆ Complexes	77
3.2 Attempted Formation of Cycloheptyne-Co ₂ (CO) ₆ via	
4+3 Cycloaddition	77
3.3 Formation of Cycloheptyne-Co ₂ (CO) ₆ by Ring	
Closing Metathesis	83

viii

3.4 Nicholas Chemistry on Cycloheptenyne/Cycloheptyne	
Cobalt Complexes	87
3.5 Intramolecular Pauson-Khand Reactions of	
Tethered Enyne Complexes	92
3.6 The Stereochemical Assignments of the PKR Products	96
3.7 SUMMARY	99
3.8 Experimental Section	100
Procedure D: Standard Acetylation & Complexation	108
Procedure E: Nicholas Reactions on Cycloheptyne	
Complexes	110
Procedure F: Typical Sugihara Conditions for the PKR	118
4.0 Intramolecular 2+2+2 Reactions	125
4.1 2+2+2 Cycloaddition Reactions	
on Cycloheptyne-Co ₂ (CO) ₆	125
4.2 Nicholas Chemistry on	
Cycloheptenyne/Cycloheptyne Cobalt Complex	130
4.3 2+2+2 Cycloadditions of Tethered	
Alkyne dicobalt complexes	133
4.4 SUMMARY	138
4.5 Experimental Section	139
Procedure G: Typical 2+2+2 Cycloaddition Reactions	151

ix

FUTURE WORK	159
References	163
Vita Auctoris	174

4

•

LIST OF FIGURES

ţ

1 Metal-Alkynes Coordination Modes	2
2 Fluxional Behavior of the Propargyldicobalt cation	5
3 Tetracobalt Cation used by Melikyan for X-ray Crystallography	6
4 Propargylic Carbocation Formation	7
5 α -, and γ -Substituted Propargylium Cation Complexes	8
6 The syn Selectivity of Propargyl Alkylation	10
7 Alkylation of Acetal Dicobalt Complexes	11
8 Synclinal and Antiperiplanar Transition States of	
Acyclic Enolates	12
9 Synclinal and Antiperiplanar Transition States of Cyclic	
Enolates	13
10 Condensation with Chiral Boron Enolates	14
11 Transition States for the N-Acyl Oxazolidinone Boron Enolates	15
12 Oxepane Formation	16
13 Alkene as the Trapping Nucleophile	16
14 Krafft's Lactone Formation	17
15 Intramolecular Enolsilane Trapping	18
16 Sequential Nicholas Reactions of Enolsilane/ Alkene	19
17 Intramolecular Nicholas Alkylation	20

18 Magnus' Synthetic Approach Towards Calicheamicinone	21
19 Ciguatoxin and Gambiertoxin	22
20 Fort's 4+3 Cycloaddition	23
21 Plausible Mechanisms for the Oxyallyl 4+3 Cycloaddition	24
22 The 4+3 Tandem Double Nicholas Cycloaddition	25
23 Mechanism of the Tandem Nicholas cycloaddition	26
24 Selective Ionization of Cyclic Acetals	27
25 Intermolecular Trapping Using AllyItrimethyIsilane	28
26 Typical Pauson-Khand Reaction	29
27 Accepted PKR Mechanism	31
28 Krafft's Intermediate Complex	32
29 Regioselectivity of Pauson-Khand Reactions	33
30 PKR of Electron Deficient Alkynes and Alkenes	34
31 Electronic Effect on the Regioselectivity on PKR	35
32 Heteroatom Acceleration Effect	36
33 Use of Thioalkynes in CPKR	38
34 Asymmetric Catalytic Pauson-Khand Reaction	39
35 Use of Traceless Tethers in PKR	40
36 Examples of PKR Application Towards Total Synthesis	41
37 Mechanism of 2+2+2	42
38 Use of 2+2+2 Chemistry in Total Synthesis	44
39 Chung's 2+2+2 Cyloaddition Reaction	45

40 Preparation of Aryl Boronate Esters	45
41 Stepwise Formation of Cycloheptenynes by Sequential Nicholas	
Reactions	47
42 Lewis Acid Mediated AllyItin Rearrangement	48
43 Regioisomeric Improvement of SilyIstannanes	48
44 Propargylic Substitution and Vinylsilane Formation	49
45 Lewis Acid Rearrangement of Allyltrimetal Equivalent	50
46 Preparation of Allyltrimetal Nucleophile 149	51
47 Reactivity of Allyltrimetal Tin as the Nucleophile	52
48 Destannylation of Allyltrimetal and Allyldimetal Nucleophiles	53
49 Mechanism of Formation of 152	54
50 Reduction and Acetylation of Complexes 150 & 151	5 5
51 Formation of Silylated Cycloheptenyne Complexes	57
52 Proposed Mechanism for Formation of 156	58
53 Proposed Mechanism for Formation of 157	59
54 Tandem Nicholas Reaction Using Nucleophile 149	60
55 Examples of Fused 7,5 Ring Systems Found in Nature	78
56 Intermolecular Pauson-Khand on Cycloheptenyne	
Dicobalt Complex	79
57 Preparation of Complex 172	80
58 Preparation of Complex 175	81
59 Formation of Cycloheptadienyne Complexes	82

60 Preparation of Acyclic Dienol Acetate Complex 179	84
61 Preparation of Cycloheptenyne Complex 187	
Bearing an Acetoxy Group	85
62 Raney Nickel Reduction of Complex 187 and	
PCMODEL MMX Minimization of Cycloheptyne-OAc Complex	86
63 Tethered Alkene Incorporation on Cycloheptenyne	
Dicobalt Complexes 187	88
64 Tethered Alkene Incorporation on Cycloheptyne	
Dicobalt Complexes 188	89
65 Formation of Nitrogen Linked Enyne Complex	91
66 PKR of Cycloheptyne Complex 190 Under	
Different Protocols	89
67 PKR of Allyl and Homoallyl Ether and Allyl Thioethers	
Cycloheptyne Complexes	94
68 PKR of Substituted 1,1-Alkene and Nitrogen Linked	
Alkene Cycloheptyne Complexes	95
69 Formation of Tricyclic Products 210 & 212 by	
Intramolecular PKR	96
70 Single Crystal Structure of the <i>trans</i> -Isomer 204	98
71 Examples of Fused 7,6 ring Systems Found in Nature	126
72 Preparation of Diacetate Complexes 215	127
73 Synthesis of Diene Complexes 218	129

xiii

.

74 Synthesis of Dicobalt Hexacarbonyl Complexes 220	129
75 Tethering of Alkynes on Cycloheptenyne and Cycloheptyne	
Dicobalt Complexes	131
76 Nicholas Reaction on Disubstituted	
Cycloheptenyne Complexes	132
77 2+2+2 Cycloaddition Reactions on	
Cycloheptenyne Complex 222	134
78 Formation of Benzocycloheptanes	135
79 All-intramolecular and N-Linked Diyne 2+2+2 Cycloadditions	136
80 Attempt on Alkene Participation in 2+2+2	
Cycloaddition Reaction	137
81 Desulfuration of Complexes 203 and 204	160
82 Use of Traceless Tether to Prepare 241	161
83 Possible Diels-Alder adducts of 242 & 245	162

xiv

List of Abbreviations

ABq	AB quartet
AC ₂ O	acetic anhydride
Bn	benzyl
Br	broad
BuLi	butyl lihium
Bu₂BOTf	dibutyl{[(trifluoromethyl)sulfonyl]oxy}borane
CAN	ceric ammonium nitrate
CyNH ₂	cyclohexylamine
CDCI₃	deutrated chloform
δ	chemical shift in ppm
Me ₂ S	dimethyl sulfide
dq	doublet of quartet
dt	doublet of triplet
Et	ethyl
Et ₂ O	dirthyl ether
Equiv	equivalent
h	hour
HRMS	high resolution MS
ⁱ Pr	isopropyl

xv

IR	infrared
М	multiplet
Ме	methyl
m/e	mass/charge ratio
MS	mass spectrometry
NMO	N-methylmorpholine N-oxide monohydrate
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
NOE	nuclear Overhauser effect
NOESY	nuclear Overhauser and exchange spectroscopy
PKR	Pauson Khand Reaction
ррт	parts per million
q	quartet
RT	room temperature
S	singlet
sept	septet
THF	tetrahydrofuran
TLC	thin layer chromatography
TMEDA	N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine
TMS	trimethylsilyl
Bu₃SnCl	tributyItin chloride
TS ₂ O	p-Toluenesulfonic anhydride

xvi

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Strained Cycloalkynes

In order to have unstrained alkyne¹ or cycloalkyne, the bond angles at the sp hybridized carbons (i.e., between the carbon-carbon triple bond and the propargylic carbons) have to be near-linear. Cyclooctyne has been isolated, but it is a strained cycloalkyne. It is unstable and easily rearranges and polymerizes. Cycloheptyne, cyclohexyne and cyclopentyne² exist as a transient species. Cyclobutyne and cyclopropyne and their derivatives remain elusive.

Mainly three techniques have been employed to stabilize these highly reactive strained compound classes. Placing bulky substituents adjacent to the triple bond diminishes the accessibility of the π electrons. Replacing one or more carbon atom by a heteroatom with a longer carbon-heteroatom bond (for example C-S bond) also decreases the reactivity of the triple bond. Finally, complexation of the triple bond with transition metals brings about a dramatic relief of strain. There are many potential alkyne metal complexes, but those of dinuclear cobalt complexes are the most synthetically useful ones.

Since Reppe's³ first report, various transition metal complexes have been discovered to form alkyne metal complexes. Basically, there are three modes of coordination of metals to the alkyne: mononuclear, dinuclear and trinuclear (Fig.1).

1

Dicobalt hexacarbonyl complexes are known to exist as dinuclear structures such as **a**. In this thesis structure **b** will be used to represent structure **a**.



Figure 1. Metal-Alkyne Coordination Modes

The structures of dicobalt-alkyne complexes are pseudo tetrahedral geometry at carbon, with a change in the bond angle at the formally sp hybridized carbons of the alkyne [(α) Fig.1, for example] from 180° to 140° in cycloalkynedicobalt complex.

The last three decades have seen extensive research and rapid development of $alkyne-Co_2(CO)_6$ dinuclear cluster chemistry.⁴ These clusters canbe easily prepared, in excellent yields, just by mixing the alkyne and the commercially available dicobalt octacarbonyl in organic solvents at room temperature. The alkyne cobalt complexes are stable dark red solids or liquids that can be chromatographed easily.

The complexation imparts three fundamental changes to the chemistry of the triple bond: 1) a change in bond angles, 2) protection of the triple bond, and 3) propargyl cation stabilization. The first of these features has been discussed above. Secondly, the dicobalt hexacarbonyl unit dramatically reduces the reactivity of the triple bond to the typical alkyne reactions such as hydrogenation, electrophilic attack and alkyne metathesis. Thus it is often used as a protecting group for alkynes, since it is equally easy to deprotect.⁵

There are several methods to decomplex with or without the reduction of the triple bond. Strong oxidants that are commonly used to oxidize the cobalt metal include: ceric ammonium nitrate, ferric nitrate, trimethylamine N-oxide and N-methylmorpholine N-oxide. Sensitive substrates are decomplexed with milder oxidants such as iodine or a weak competitive ligand such as pyridine. Lithium in ammonia or tributyltin hydride can be used to decomplex dicobalt carbonyl with concomitant reduction of the triple bond to a Z-alkene.⁶

3

1.2 Nicholas Reaction

Perhaps the most synthetically useful change associated with complexation is the tremendous stabilization of propargylic carbocations by the dicobalt hexacarbonyl unit as compared to uncomplexed propargyl cation. In 1972, Nicholas and Petit⁷ discovered that the dicobalt hexacarbonyl unit can effectively stabilize propargylic carbocations. When dicobalt complexed propagylic alcohols were treated with tetrafluoroboric acid, propargyl cation complexes could be isolated as a stable tetrafluoroborates. These propargyl carbocations⁸ are as stable thermodynamically as triphenylmethyl cation (commonly known as trityl cation), as indicated by its pK_R^+ [ca -7 compared to -6.6 for trityl]. Experimental evidence supports a highly delocalized carbocation species. IR spectra show a shift in the carbonyl absorption to higher frequencies by the order of 40-60 cm⁻¹, while the carbonyl resonance in the ¹³C-NMR spectrum shows a small deshielding relative to the parent alcohol.

Schreiber⁹ studied the variable temperature NMR spectra of dicobalt propargyl cations and proposed that they exist as highly fluxional structures with various species in equilibrium [Fig. 2]. Schreiber proposed a model that stated that the propargylic carbon bends towards one of the cobalt atoms. An antarafacial migration leading to enantiomerization (A to B and D to C) is the lower energy fluxional process. The energy barrier depends on substitution at the propargylic position. It is undetected for primary cations, 11.5 kcal/mol for secondary cations and 10.1 kcal/mol for tertiary cations. At higher temperatures a second process can

4

be detected. It is attributed to a suprafacial migration leading to syn/anti isomerization (A to C and B to D). Again, this higher isomerization energy barrier depends on the degree of substitution at the propargylic carbon, decreasing in the order $1^{0}>2^{0}>3^{0}$.



Figure 2. Fluxional Behavior of the Propargyldicobalt Cation

Melikyan's group¹⁰ was able to isolate and perform successfully x-ray crystallography on cation **4**, which supports Schreiber's model. The distances from the propargylic carbon to the two sets of cobalt atoms vary distinctly and the formal cation carbon is sp² hybridized trigonal planar.



Figure 3. Tetracobalt Cation Used by Melikyan for X-ray Crystallography

There are several ways to generate these carbocations, as shown in (Fig. 4). Protonation of propargylic alcohols, epoxides or alkenes can provide the carbocation complex. The addition of Lewis acids to alkoxides, acetates, or acetals is also known to provide dicobalt hexacarbonyl cations. It is also possible to generate the complexed cation from the action of AgBF₄ on propargyl chlorides.¹¹

An alternative method of generating the carbocation is the electrophilic addition to an enyne (7 to 6), usually followed by either elimination to an alkene or trapping with a nucleophile.



Figure 4. Propargylic Carbocation Formation

1.2a Intermolecular Nicholas Reactions

The range of nucleophilies that can add to propargyldicobalt carbocations is extensive. The addition usually gives excellent yields and always occurs exclusively at the propargylic position unless the cation is conjugated to an alkene. By contrast, ionization of uncomplexed alkyne at the propargylic position forms a cation with ambident propargylium-allenylium resonance forms, upon which nucleophilic attack can occur at either end, yielding a mixture of acetylenic and allenic products. However, in the dicobalt complex alkynes, formation of allenes, without prior decomplexation of the complex, has never been reported.¹²

Based on the work by Nicholas and others, the substitution effect at the α carbon or the remote γ -propargylic carbon has only a marginal effect on the reactivity of the dicobalt propargylium cation (i.e., **8**, **9**) (Fig. 5). However, replacing one carbon monoxide with an electron donating ligand further stabilizes the propargylium cation and therefore drastically reduces its reactivity. Thus, mono-(triphenylphosphine) substituted cluster **11** is less reactive towards addition of π nucleophies (by ca. 10⁵ fold)¹³ than dicobalt hexacarbonyl propargylium cation **10**.



Figure 5. α -, and γ -Substituted Propargylium Cation Complexes

Mayr's empirical scale¹⁴ gives a quantitative prediction of the types of nucleophiles that can add to the propargylium cation complexes. The scale confirms the suitability of electron rich aromatics and heteroaromatics as

nucleophilic partners to these dicobalt cation complexes, while benzene and toluene are inefficient, unless used as a solvent. Heteroatom centered nucleophiles such as alcohols, carboxylic acids, water, thiols, amines, nitriles, and hydrides are known to add well to these dicobalt cationic complexes. Carbon-atom centered nucleophiles such as enols, enol ethers, enamines, silyl ketene acetals, β -dicarbonyl compounds, and alkenes also add to the propargyl dicobalt cation. Allylsilanes and allylstannanes efficiently add to these carbocations, even forming quaternary carbons.

Schreiber¹⁵ has demonstrated that acyclic silyl enol ethers and particularly Evans-type boron enolates couple with the propargylium cation (such as that derived from **12**) to furnish products with good to excellent diastereoselectivity about the newly formed bond. The level of *syn* diastereoiselection was found to be slightly higher in the Z-enol silyl ether than the E-enol silyl ether (i.e. **13**). However, a substituent at the remote alkynyl carbon of the complexes (**12**) was shown to have a substantial influence on the streochemical outcome. For example, *syn:anti* ratios (**14:15**) were found to increase significantly as the steric bulkiness of the R group increased from 1.6:1 when R=H to 18:1 when R=Ph (Fig. 6).

9



Figure 6. The syn Selectivity of Propargyl Alkylation

When alkynyl acetals (**16**) were added to acyclic silyl enol ether (**17**) in the presence of a Lewis acid, aldol complexes (**18**) with the syn diastereomer as the major isomer were generated. However, it was noticed that by changing the remote propargylic substituent, there was only a small difference in diastereoisomeric ratio compared to those reported by Schreiber. Nicholas¹⁶ pointed out that the diastereoisomeric ratio of the β -alkoxy ketone complexes was far more dependent on the bulkiness of the acetal group rather than the remote alkynyl group..



Figure 7. Alkylation of Acetal Dicobalt Complexes

The high *syn* diastreoisomeric induction observed in these reactions was rationalized according to the Seebach¹⁷ transition state system. Schreiber suggested a synclinal orientation of the CC double bond of the enolate and the alkynyl propargyl carbon as the preferred conformation in the transition state for reaction carried out under kinetic conditions (Fig. 8).









Antiperiplanar gives syn isomer Antiperiplanar gives anti-isomer

Figure 9. Synclinal and Antiperiplanar Transition States of Cyclic Enolates

In the cyclic model shown above (Fig. 9), the antiperiplanar transition states are favored, because synclinical transition states suffer a severe steric interaction between the bulky dicobalt unit and either the ring or the TMS group. Of the two antiperiplanar transition states, the one leading to the *anti* isomer seems to be the less hindered one; nevertheless, it may suffer from dipolar repulsion between the trimethylsiloxy and the alkoxy groups thus favoring the other antiperiplanar transition state. Although cyclic encl others still yield predominantly the *syn*-isomer, the diastereoselectivity varies from as high as >99:1 to as low as 1.3:1.

Such striking differences cannot be completely explained by one model for cyclic enol ethers.

Though the antarafacial migration of the dicobalt cation is fast, chiral enols should be able to distinguish the enantiomeric faces and should provide diastereomerically and enantiomerically enriched products. Indeed, Schreiber showed that chiral boron enolates react with propargyl dicobalt complexes to afford chiral products with good levels of enantiofacial selectivity⁹ (Fig. 10).



Figure 10. Condensation with Chiral Boron Enolates

Schreiber contended, based on the synclinical model, that a double stereodifferentiation takes place and that the rapid enantiomerization of the propargyl dicobalt cation is faster than the alkylation. The synclincal transition state (A) (Fig. 11), which gives rise to the anti isomer, suffers from a steric interaction between the methyl on the propargylic carbon and the pendant butyl group on the boron enolate, and is therefore considered to be inferior to the alternative synclinal transition state (**B**).



Figure 11. Transition States for the N-Acyl Oxazolidinone Boron Enolates

1.2b Intramolecular Nicholas Reaction

The last two decades have seen a considerable amount of work reported on intramolecular Nicholas reactions. The intramolecular Nicholas cyclization can provide either the dicobalt hexacarbonyl moiety as a part of the ring or placed as a substituent on the ring. Mukai¹⁸ studied the formation of 5, 6, and 7 membered cyclic ethers from the reaction of a pendant alcohol to an epoxy alkyne-dicobalt complex (i.e. **22-23**). It is interesting to note the ready formation of a seven membered ring over six membered ring. Formation of the most stable carbocation overrides the normal tendency to form a six membered ring.



Figure 12. Oxepane Formation

Tyrrell¹⁹ was able to cyclize a suitably disposed propargyl cation complex on to non-activated alkenes (Fig. 13). The tertiary cation intermediate was either trapped with a halide ion or lost a proton by β -elimination to provide (25) and (26) as their *trans* diastereomers.




While not strictly an intramolecular Nicholas reaction, the work of Krafft's group is clearly related. Krafft²⁰ was able to generate the propargyl cation with a terminally disubstituted alkene and capture the resultant tertiary carbocation intramolecularly with a carboxylic acid or an ester to form a lactone (Fig. 14). The analogous chemistry can be used to form a cyclic carbonate with alkenyl carbonates or carbamates.



Figure 14. Krafft's Lactone Formation

Tyrrell²¹ prepared several acyclic alkynes bearing a dicobalt complex and with a trimethylsilyl enol ether at the opposing end as the cation quencher. It was possible to form 5, 6 and 7 membered rings in Lewis acid mediated Nicholas reactions of these substrates (Fig. 15).



Figure 15. Intramolecular Enolsilane Trapping

Tyrrell²² also elegantly exploited the difference in reactivities between enol ethers and alkenes towards a propargylic cation. When the silyl enol ether (34) was mixed with acetal complex (35) in the presence of boron trifluoride etherate, complex (36) was formed, exclusively as the *cis* diastereoisomer (Fig.16). Further treatment with tetrafluoroboric acid and subsequent decomplexation with CAN did not afford the expected bicyclic enyne (37), but instead furnished a tricyclic product (38) with a *cis, anti, trans* relative configuration. The formation of this unusual tricyclic product and possible intermediates is under investigation by the authors.



Figure 16. Sequential Nicholas Reactions of Enolsilane/ Alkene

Conceptually, it is possible to form cycloalkynes containing the complexed triple bond. The Schreiber group has reported the exo-trig cyclization of various alkyne complexes containing an allylsilane moiety. Formation of six, seven, and eight membered cyclic products are possible in good yields (Fig. 17). The formation of a cyclohexyne dicobalt hexacarbonyl complex is quite remarkable. However, to date, it remains one of only two examples in the literature.^{15,23}

19



Figure 17. Intramolecular Nicholas Alkylation

Magnus²⁴ has extensively used Nicholas chemistry for the synthesis of endiyne antibiotics. The use of a tandem Micheal addition-Lewis mediated cyclization allowed the formation of a 10-membered ring containing a dicobalt hexacarbonyl complexed alkyne (**43**). The bicylic thus obtained is a core unit of the endiyne antibiotic calicheamicinone (**44**) (Fig. 18).



Figure 18. Magnus' Synthetic Approach Towards Calicheamicinone

Isobe²⁵ has taken full advantage of the facile formation of cyclic ethers possessing the complexed alkyne in the ring. These cyclic ether formation reactions have been used elegantly in the synthesis of several portions of the natural products ciguatoxin **45** and the related gamblertoxin **46** (Fig. 19).

21



Figure 19. Ciguatoxin and Gambiertoxin

1.2c The Double Nicholas [4+3] Cycloaddition Reactions

Cycloheptane frameworks are usually obtained either from acyclic precursors, from ring modification or from cycloaddition reactions.²⁶ Cycloaddition reactions are by far the best choice in terms of synthesis due to the simplicity of the starting material and thecomplexity of the products. Conceptually, of all the

cycloaddition reactions, the most powerful and attractive way of making a cycloheptane ring is the 4 + 3 cycloaddition reaction. In 1962, Fort²⁷ first reported the 4 + 3 cycloaddition reaction, between an allylic cation and a diene to form a cycloheptane ring (Fig. 20). This reaction which involves an oxyallyl (2π C) cation and a diene (4π C) can be viewed as a variant of Diels-Alder reaction.



Figure 20. Fort's 4+3 Cycloaddition

Since there are numerous readily available dienes, much of the effort in this field has always been concentrated on the preparation of the allylic moiety. There are several known methodologies²⁸ to generate the oxyallyl cation (i.e., **48**). The most useful methods employ α , α -dihaloketones with a reducing agents such as Fe. $_2(CO)_9$. Hoffman²⁹ has proposed three plausible mechanisms to explain the products observed in the reactions. The concerted mechanism is type (**A**) via transition state **50** (Fig. 21). Type (**B**) mechanism involves the stepwise formation of the bonds via **51**. Finally, type (**C**) leads to the formation of a five membered ring or acyclic products (**52a**, **52b**) rather than the cycloheptane ring. Consequently, a

successful 4+3 cycloaddition reaction depends on factors such as the substrates used, the oxyallyl formation and its conformation³⁰ as well as the reaction conditions employed.³¹



Figure 21. Plausible Mechanisms for the Oxyallyl 4+3 Cycloaddition

Takano³² first conceived the idea of synthesizing the cycloheptyne dicobalt complex by tandem double Nicholas reaction. He attempted to form the cycloheptyne dicobalt complex by a [4+3] cycloaddition reaction employing 1,4-dibenzyloxybut-2-yne dicobalt hexacarbonyl complex (**53**) and 1,3-bis(trimethylsilyl)propene (**54**) in the presence of boron triflouride (Fig. 22). Unfortunately, only acyclic products were observed.

Subsequently, the Green group³³ successfully demonstrated that with a wise choice of the allyldimetal equivalent, such as the vinysilyl stannane **56**, it was possible to obtain the cycloheptyne dicobalt complex **55** in one pot reaction in good yield (Fig. 22). The choice of the dimetallic nucleophile proved to be crucial in the 4+3 tandem double Nicholas cyclization.





Figure 22. The 4+3 Tandem Double Nicholas Cycloaddition

The proposed mechanism for the cycloaddition involves a stepwise process (Fig. 23). Initial formation of **59** is followed by the nucleophilic attack of the

silyIstannane, resulting in the formation of the first Nicholas adduct **60**. The second carbocation **61** forms when a second molecule of Lewis acid is attacked by the propargyl ether complex. Intramolecular trapping with the allyIsilane moiety forms the cation **62**, which then loses the formal trimethyIsilyl cation to form the cycloheptenyne dicobalt complex **63**.



Figure 23. Mechanism of the Tandem Nicholas Cycloaddition

The substituent effects on the regioisomeric ratio of the reaction have been studied by this group. Apparently a kinetic factor plays an important role in

determining the formation of the regioisomeric products. This kinetic discrimination stems from the interaction between the Lewis acid and the leaving alkoxy functional group. Bulkier alkoxide groups (i.e. isopropoxy vs methoxy) encumber the approach of the Lewis acid, thus reducing the rate of formation of the propargyl cation complex. Indeed Schreiber³⁴ was able to ionize selectively the less hindered side of the cylic acetal in complex **64** in route towards the synthesis intermediate **65**, a precursor of epoxydictymene (Fig. 24).



Figure 24. Selective Ionization of Cyclic Acetals

A second type of double Nicholas cycloaddition on **57** was found to occur in the presence of allyltrimethylsilane and boron trifluoride. The reaction afforded exclusively γ -fluorocycloheptane dicobalt complex in 75% yield.³⁵ When a dichloromethane solution of unsusbtituted 1,4-diethoxy complex **57** and allyltrimethyl silane were mixed with SnCl₄, γ -chloro cycloheptyne dicobalt complex was obtained in 78% yield. When SnBr₄ was used as the Lewis acid, γ -bromide trapping was achieved in only 26% yield. When benzene was used as the solvent and B(C₆F₅)₃ as the Lewis acid, γ -phenylcycloheptyne complex were obtained in

70% yield. Toluene and chlorobenzene trapping gave a mixture of ortho, meta, and para substituted γ -cycloheptyne complexes in 58% and 51% yields, respectively.



Figure 25. Intermolecular Trapping Using Allyltrimethylsilane

1.3 Pauson-Khand Reaction

Another synthetically useful and perhaps equally valuable change associated with complexation of the triple bond is the Pauson-Khand reaction (PKR). When dicobalt hexacarbonyl alkyne complexes are heated in the presence of an alkene, it forms a cyclopentenone in a [2+2+1] cycloadditon reaction (Fig. 26). First reported by Pauson and Khand in 1971, the alkene and the alkyl portions of the cyclopentenone clearly stem from the alkyne and alkene, respectively, while the carbonyl's source is one of the CO ligands.³⁶ Compound containing various transition metals such as titanium, ruthenium, rhodium, and iridium are also known to catalyze the PKR reaction. However, cobalt, as a dicobalt hexcarbonyl alkyne complex, remains the dominant metal of choice for the Pauson-Khand reaction.³⁷



Figure 26. Typical Pauson-Khand Reaction

1.3a PKR Mechanism

In 1985 Magnus³⁸ proposed the widely accepted mechanism of the Pauson-Khand reaction (Fig. 27). The stable dicobalt hexcarbonyl complex first suffers a loss

of a CO ligand from one of the cobalt atoms, followed by complexation of the alkene. The steps are invariably a reversible processes the first of which is thought to be the rate determining step of the reaction. Amine oxide promoted Pauson–Khand reactions accelerate the reaction by oxidizing the CO produced to carbon dioxide, thus making the first step irreversible. This is followed by insertion of the alkene from the less hindered π -face into the less substituted alkyne carbon-cobalt bond, to form the first carbon-carbon bond. The regioselectivity with respect to both the alkyne and the alkene is determined at this step. This is followed by addition of CO to give the cobaltacycle, and then reductive elimination and decomplexation of the metal furnishes the cyclopentenone.



Figure 27. Accepted PKR Mechanism

Pauson proved unambiguously the intermediacy of dicobalt alkyne complex in Pauson-Khand reaction. Though alkene cobalt complexes are known, they do not form cyclopentenones when heated with alkynes.³⁹ Besides the initial alkyne cobalt complexes and the cyclopentenone products, no intermediates have ever been trapped or isolated along the reaction pathway. The only exception to this is Krafft's observation and isolation of a 2:1 mixture of diastereoisomers **76** (Fig. 28).⁴⁰ However, the intermediate complex **76** lies off the direct reaction pathway to cycloaddition. Nevertheless, it supports an initial dissociative pathway.





1.3b PKR the Early Years: Intermolecular and Intramolecular PKR

The Pauson group focused on the scope and limitations of intermolecular reactions. The reaction tolerates a wide range of common organic functional groups. All terminal or internal alkynes participated efficiently with the exception of propynoic acid dicobalt complex. Strained cyclic olefins efficiently afforded the cyclopentenones in high yields, whereas ordinary alkenes gave modest yields.



Figure 29. Regioselectivity in Pauson-Khand Reactions

The regiochemical outcome of the reaction is highly dependent on the nature of substituents on both the alkenes and the alkynes. Steric effects are the dominant factors that determine the regioselectivity of the PKR. Most intermolecular Pauson-Khand reactions give a mixture of regioisomers; bulkier substituents on terminal alkynes are always placed α -to the carbonyl group in the products. On the other hand, the regioselectivity of terminal alkenes is not as readily predictable. In general, reactions of terminal alkenes with ethyne or terminal alkynes give minimal regioselectivities, while internal alkynes give better regioselectivity. Nevertheless, terminal alkenes with a bulky substituent, i.e., tert-butyl group, are more regioselective and the bulky group is preferentially placed α -to the carbonyl group.⁴¹

Electron deficient alkynes gave both high yields and high regioselectivity. Electron deficient alkenes however, generally are poor substrates for PKR reaction and they tend to yield dienes (Fig. 30).⁴²



Figure 30. PKR of Electron Deficient Alkynes and Alkenes

A weak electronic effect has been shown to have an impact on the regioselectivity of the product.⁴³ In fact, when substrate **95** was subjected to thermal conditions it afforded **96a** and **96b** in a ratio of 76:24 (Fig. 31). Apparently, the insertion of the alkyne occurs at the electron deficient carbon. On the other hand,

substrate **97**, where the electronic effect was removed, when subjected to the same conditions gave almost 1:1 mixture of products **98a** and **98b**.



Figure 31. Electronic Effect on the Regioselectivity on PKR

The drawbacks of the intermolecular PKR include the harsh reaction conditions, (i.e., high temperature), and the long time required to form the cycloaddition adduct. This may not be appropriate for sensitive substrates. In addition, the chemical yields obtained from unstrained alkenes in intermolecular Pauson-Khand reactions are normally poor, though strained alkenes and those possessing a heteroatom at the homoallylic position gave excellent yields. The reaction is susceptible to steric and electronic effects on the alkene.

In 1981, Schore⁴⁵ expanded the scope of the reaction when he published the first example of an intramolecular Pauson-Khand. In general, intramolecular PKR gives both high yields and complete regioselectivity.



Figure 32. Heteroatom Acceleration Effect

1.3c PKR Recent Progress

The Pauson-Khand reaction has become popular and widely exploited in synthesis with the advent of additives that accelerated the reaction. Smit and Caple⁴⁶ first introduced the Dry State Absorption Conditions (DSAC) absorption technique with silica gel or alumina. This allowed that the PKR to be run in shorter reaction times and lower temperatures. Krafft³⁹ has added the observation that a

hetero-atom attached at the homoallylic position of an unstrained olefin has an accelerating effect on the PKR (Fig. 32). It was realized that the use of polar solvents, especially DMSO and acetonitrile, has a beneficial effect in promoting PKR compared to non-polar solvents.⁴⁷ In the early 1990's, Schreiber and Jeong⁴⁸ independently described the promotion of the intramolecular Pauson-Khand reaction at room temperature using N-methylmorpholine N-oxide and trimethylamine N-oxide, respectively. Finally Sugihara⁴⁹ group showed that addition of amines or sulfides dramatically accelerated the intramolecular Pauson-Khand reaction. Both intermolecular and intramolecular PKR have enormously benefited from these additives.

The further development of the PKR has been accomplished with the recognition that the reaction could be carried out catalytically. Indeed the last few years have seen an increase in the reports of the catalytic Pauson-Khand reaction [CPKR]. Livinghouse and Pagenkopf reported a photolytic promotion of PKR in 1 atm of CO pressure. The same authors demonstrated that with a careful control of temperature, it is possible to avoid the need for the photoactivation of dicobalt octacarbonyl catalyst.⁵⁰ Presence of a thioether in the substrates gave not only better yield, but also improved diastereoselectivities of the cyclized product (Fig. 33). Additives were also shown to accelerate the CPKR.

37



Figure 33. Use of Thioalkynes in CPKR

Almost all successful CPKR are intramolecular PKR, and the substrate tolerance varies from metal to metal. Several groups have succeeded in utilizing different transition metals [Zr, Ti, Fe, Mo, W, Ni, Ru, Rh, and Ir] in PKR and mostly in a catalytic fashion.⁵¹ In general, late transition metals tolerate the presence of polar groups in the enyne, while titanium tolerates substituents around the alkynes and alkenes in the enyne systems.

Another area of Pauson-Khand reactions that has seen a great deal of activity is the asymmetric Pauson-Khand reactions. Pauson first reported the use of a chiral phosphine ligand in the complex and was able to separate and obtain a pure diastereoisomer. Thus, from the pure distereoisomer it should be possible to obtain a pure enantiomer of cyclopentenone. However, low yields and low ee's were observed, due to the epimerization of the complex at high temperature. The use of a chiral auxiliary in the organic fragment, with a chelating capability, did give an efficient transfer of chirality to the complex. Several groups have reported high asymmetric induction in both stoichiometric and catalytic PKR (i.e. Fig. 34).⁵²



Figure 34. Asymmetric Catalytic Pauson-Khand Reaction

Despite the advances in Pauson-Khand reactions, the use of intermolecular PKR has been limited to only strained alkenes. This limitation was not imposed to the intramolecular versions. Therefore, the use of traceless tether has appeared lately to reap the benefits of the intramolecular PKR, and solve most of the limitations on the intermolecular PKR (i.e. low yields and low regioselectivities). ⁵³ The Austin group^{53a} has successfully used an N-O as tether link in **105** (Fig. 35). Cleavage of the tether was achieved by Sml₂. Pericãs^{53b} *et al* reported the use of sulfur as the tether in **108**. The PKR adduct **109** can be desulfurized by Raney

Nickel[®]. Pagenkopf^{53c} reported that vinylsilyl ethers of propargylic alcohols did undergo the PKR with concomitant extrusion of a siloxy group (Fig.35).



Figure 35. Use of Traceless Tethers in PKR

The Pauson-Khand reaction has been extensively exploited in total synthesis of natural and unnatural products. Some recent examples⁵⁴ are shown below (Fig. 36). Mukai^{54a} used intramolecular PKR as the key step towards the total synthesis of 8-hydroxystreptazolone **116**. Keese^{54b} reported a fascinating sequential intramolecular PKR for the synthesis of fenestrane via **119**. Finally, Takano^{54c}

employed the intramolecular P-K to establish the carbocyclic framework of the densely functionalized dendrobine**122** in one step.



Figure 36. Examples of PKR Application Towards Total Synthesis

1.4 2+2+2 Cycloaddition Reactions

The trimerization of acetylene to form benzene has been known since 1866. However, the reaction required high temperatures (~400 ^oC) and afforded mixtures of products.⁵⁵ In 1949 Reppe first described the use of nickel in the cyclotrimerization of alkynes to form substituted benzene ring.⁵⁶

1.4a Mechanism of 2+2+2





The mechanism of the reaction involves the formation of metallacycle **125** or **126** through oxidative cyclization, followed by either insertion of the third alkyne or a 4+2 Diels-Alder type reaction to furnish complexes **127** and **128**, respectively (Fig. 37). All possible intermediates have been characterized.⁵⁷

Cyclotrimerization of terminal alkynes yields a mixture of 1, 2, 4- and 1, 3, 5trisubstituted benzenes. The use of two or three different alkynes should be expected to provide an intractable mixture of substituted benzene rings. Tethering two alkynes to undergo an intramolecular 2+2+2 reaction with a third alkyne does provide a partial or completely regioselective formation of benzene ring.

The third alkyne can be substituted by an alkene to obtain a cyclohexadiene or two alkenes and an alkyne can be submitted to 2+2+2 cycloaddition reaction to afford cyclohexenes. The third coupling partner can be a nitrile or isonitrile to furnish pyridines and pyridones.⁵⁷

The 2+2+2 cycloaddition reaction has been used in synthesis. Vollhardt used the cycloaddition as the key step in an elegant synthesis of estrone.⁵⁸ The same author used the 2+2+2 cycloaddition reaction in the synthesis of lysergine and strychnine (Fig. 38).⁵⁹

43



Figure 38. Use of 2+2+2 Chemistry in Total Synthesis

Though cobalt(I), in the form of CpCo(CO)₂ or CpCo(C₂H₄)₂, dominates this field, several transition metal complexes centered on Pd, Rh. and Ni are known to catalyze the cyclotrimerization of alkynes.⁶⁰ Cobalt (0), in the form of dicobalt hexacarbonyl unit, on occasion has been used as the transition metal to accomplish a 2+2+2 cycloaddition reaction.⁶¹ Sappa^{61d} reported that asymmetrically substituted alkyne dicobalt hexacarbonyl complexes do undergo cyclotrimerization reactions to furnish a regioisomeric mixture of substituted benzenes. Chung group^{61a} also used catalytic Co₂(CO)₈ to prepare tricyclic **133** in high yield (Fig.39). The group proposed that the mechanism of the 2+2+2 as similar to the one proposed for Co(I).



Figure 39. Chung's 2+2+2 Cyloaddition Reaction

Recently, Vollhardt group prepared various arylboronic esters, for example **137** from dicobalt hexacarbonyl alkynyl boronate complexes via 2+2+2 cycloadditon reaction with α, ω -diynes (Fig. 40).⁶²



Figure 40. Preparation of Aryl Boronate Esters

2.0 Use of Allyltrimetal Equivalent in Nicholas Reactions

2.1 4+3 Cycloaddition Reactions: Formation and Elimination of Vinylsilane Side Products

The Green group has successfully developed a formal 4+3 cycloaddition by employing a double Nicholas reaction of hexacarbonyldicobalt complexes of propargyl diethers in good yields. It also has been shown⁶³ that it is possible to form cycloheptynedicobalt complexes sequentially, by employing an allyldimetal equivalent **56** and a γ -alkoxyalkynone or alkynoate complex **138** (Fig. 41). The use of (triethylsilylallyl)stannane **56** allowed the formation of the tethered allylsilane complexes **139a,b,c** as the major product in the Nicholas reaction of **138a,b,c**. Subsequent DIBAL-H reduction of the ester or the ketone function and *in situ* acetylation afforded the acetate complexes **141a,b,c**. These complexes, when exposed to boron trifluoride, gave cycloheptenyne complexes **142a,b,c** in excellent yields.



Figure 41. Stepwise Formation of Cycloheptenynes by Sequential Nicholas Reactions

The most significant side product of the initial Nicholas condensation step was vinylsilane **140** a,b,c. The source of the vinylsilane byproduct is believed to originate from an allylic rearrangement of the tin moiety in the Lewis acid media prior to the formation of the Nicholas adduct (Fig. 42).⁶⁴



Figure 42. Lewis Acid Mediated Allyltin Rearrangement

Recovered **56**, however, did not show evidence supporting the presence of noticeable **56a** in the reaction mixture.⁶⁵ Formation of vinylsilane side product increases with decreasing the bulkiness of the silyl moiety in **56**. Indeed, use of allyltrimethylsilylstannane **142** as nucleophile provided the lowest ratio of allylsilane to vinylsilane side product (Fig. 43), when a bulkier triisopropylsilyl group was used, a better regioisomeric ratio in favor of the allylsilane product was obtained at the expense of the chemical yield. As a compromise, a triethylsilyl group, as in **56**, was chosen in the double Nicholas cycloaddition studies.⁶⁶



Figure 43. Regioisomeric Improvement of SilyIstannanes

When substituents reside on the propargylic carbon, the vinylsilane byproduct also becomes more competitive. Indeed, **143** gave 55:45 ratio of allylsilane and vinylsilane products **144** and **145** (Fig. 44). In addition, when substrate **146** was subjected to the double Nicholas 4+3 cycloaddition conditions, only a modest yield of the cycloheptenyne complex (42%) was obtained. The low yield was attributed to extensive formation of vinylsilane **148**. The vinylsilane thus formed does not cyclize to cycloheptyne complex.



Figure 44. Propargylic Substitution and Vinylsilane Formation

2.2 Preparation and Nicholas condensation of Nucleophile 149

One of the objectives of this thesis is to solve the problem associated with the formation of vinylsilane side products. Therefore, we proposed to prepare and employ nucleophile **149**, since an allyltin rearrangement of **149** gives the same species (Fig. 45).



Figure 45. Lewis Acid Mediated Rearrangement of Allyltrimetal Equivalent

Allyltrimetal **149** was prepared by deprotonation of the known compound³² **54** with butyllithium in dry hexane and trapping the resulting allyl anion with Bu₃SnCl. After conventional workup and distillation, compound **149** could be isolated in 80% yield (Fig. 46).



Figure 46. Preparation of Allyltrimetal Nucleophile 149

Substrates **138c** and **143**, which gave substantial amount of vinylsilane side products with allyldimetal equivalent **56**, were chosen to test the ability of nucleophile **149** to reduce or eliminate completely the undesired vinylsilane products.



Figure 47. Reactivity of Allyltrimetal Tin as the Nucleophile

When dibutylboron triflate in dry CH_2Cl_2 was slowly added at room temperature to a mixture of substrate **138c** and nucleophile **149** in dry CH_2Cl_2 and after conventional workup and purification, **150** was isolated in 90% yield (Fig. 47). Similarly when **143** and **149** were mixed in dry CH_2Cl_2 and treated with dibutyl boron triflate, the reaction gave **151** as an inseparable *syn:anti* diastereoisomeric (53:47 dr) mixture in 90% yield. Only trace amounts (<5%) of the allylsilane side products **152** and **153** were observed. Formation of the trace side products **152** and **153** likely are due to loss of the tin moiety prior to the Nicholas condensation.
This destannylation was first observed and its mechanism elucidated in reactions of allylstannane **56** by Green and Lu (Fig. 48).³⁵



Figure 48. Destannylation of Allyltrimetal and Allyldimetal Nucleophiles

Consequently, a similar destannylation is probably taking place as well with the allyltrimetal nucleophile **149**. Destannylation of **149** would afford nucleophile **54**, which incidentally was the nucleophile first used by the Takano group in their unsuccessful attempts at a 4+3 double Nicholas reaction. It is our belief that this failure was due to preferential loss of the internal TMS group over the terminal TMS group (Figure 49). This indicates that there is a strong steric interaction between the internal TMS group with the bulky dicobalt hexacarbonyl unit. Therefore, a nucleophilic attack of **54** on **143** would provide an intermediate (Fig. 49), which loses the internal TMS moiety to afford **152**. The operation of a similar mechanism would explain the formation of **153**.



Figure 49. Mechanism of Formation of 152

2.3 Formation of Silylated Cycloheptenyne Cobalt Complexes

With the ability of allyltrimetal equivalent **149** to participate in Nicholas reactions demonstrated, we wished to explore the possibilities of its use for formation of cycloheptenyne dicobalt complex. Indeed, DIBAL reduction and *in situ* acetylation of phenyl ketone **150** afforded acetate **154** in 90% yield (54:46 dr). Similarly, methyl ester **151** gave acetate **155** as a mixture of *syn:anti* (64:36 dr)

diastereoisomers in 77% yield. The identities of the major and minor diastereomer were not assigned.



Figure 50. Reduction and Acetylation of Complexes 150 & 151

When acetate **154** was exposed to boron trifluoride etherate, cyclization to cycloheptenyne complex occurred, giving a 67:33 mixture of *trans: cis* **156** isomers in 59% overall yield. Conversely, exposure of boron trifluoride to a dichloromethane solution of acetate **155** gave *cis***-157**: *trans***-157**: **157a** (70:11:19) as the major product in 90% yield.

The stereochemical assignment for silvlated cyloheptenyne dicobalt complexes were based on molecular modeling and calculation of vicinal coupling constants of the methine protons indicated in (Fig. 51). The major diastereomer **156** exhibited a coupling constant of 10.8 Hz, while the minor isomer possesses a

corresponding coupling constant of 4.5 Hz. MM3 calculations {CACHE[®]} predict two sets of coupling constants for the *trans*, 11.1-12.3 Hz for the pseudo axial-axial and 0.8-1.0 Hz for the pseudo equatorial-equatorial.⁶⁷ Conversely, the calculations for the *cis*-isomer do not include such a large couplings (5.7-6.5 & 3.7-4.0 Hz for the two pseudo axial-equatorial couplings). Thus, the major isomer of **156** was assigned as the *trans* isomer.

Analogously, the major diastereomer **157** which exhibited a coupling constant of 2.7 Hz was assignment as having *cis* configuration. MM3 calculations {CACHE[®]} predicted 8.2-9.0 and 7.7-8.7 Hz for the pseudo equatorial-equatorial and pseudo axial-axial coupling, while 4.9-5.6 and 3.1-3.7 Hz for the two pseudo axial-equatorial couplings.





157b Figure 51. Formation of Silylated Cycloheptenyne Complexes

It is interesting to note which silyl group was removed from the starting acetate in the production of cycloheptenyne dicobalt complexes. For product **156** the internal silyl group in **154** was eliminated, while product **157**, it is the terminal silyl group in **155** that was preferentially eliminated during the formation of **157**. A plausible mechanism for the formation of silylated cycloheptenyne dicobalt complexes **156** and **157** is shown below. Formation of **158** is followed by intramolecular attack of the allylsilane to form intermediate **159a**. The reaction could

exist in equilibrium between the Nicholas adduct **159a** and retro-Nicholas⁶⁸ **158**. Second retro-Nicholas equilibrium could also exist between **159a** and **159b** (Fig. 52). Similarly, Nicholas adduct **161a** and retro-Nicholas species **160** and **161b** equilibrium could be established upon exposure of the Lewis acid to complex **155**. While attempts at MM3 modeling of the β -silyl cations were inconclusive, it is possible that the silyl group adjacent to the substituent only readily assumes a pseudo-equatorial position, whereas a pseudo-axial orientation for proper overlap⁻ with the cation is required for its ultimate loss. Analogous equilibrium can exist for the **155-157** transformation (Fig. 53). Therefore, elimination in **159a** and **161a** preferentially occurs from the least substituted side of the molecule.



Figure 52. Proposed Mechanism for Formation of 156



Figure 53. Proposed Mechanism for Formation of 157

A tandem Nicholas 4+3 cycloadditions employing substrate **162** and allyltrimetal **149**, in the presence of BF₃.OEt₂ as the Lewis acid, were also investigated. In the event, formation of silyl cycloheptenyne dicobalt complex **163a** was observed in 48% yield. Several other side products were also observed in various amounts depending on the reaction conditions. Shorter reaction times and fast addition of the Lewis acid gave predominantly **163b** as the side product, while longer reaction times and slow addition of the Lewis acid gave predominantly **163b** as the side product, while and **163d**, with substantial decrease in the yield of the silylcycloheptenyne complex. The susceptibility to rapid loss of tin moiety is clearly confirmed in the formation of

163c. The formation of complex **163d** could arise from the degradation of the trimetal equivalent nucleophile **149** to allyltrimethylsilane.





2.4 Summary

One of the objectives of this thesis was to eliminate or limit to trace amounts, the formation of vinylsilane side products formed in the 4+3 cycloadditions developed by in our lab. By employing allyltrimetal nucleophile **149**, virtually eliminated or reduced to trace amounts the vinylsilane side products **140a**,**b**,**c** & **145** observed earlier. The possibility for the step wise formation of cycloheptyne dicobalt complexes of complexes **154** and **155** were studied. DIBAL reduction and *in situ* acetylation of these complexes followed by exposure to BF₃ afforded cycloheptenyne dicobalt complex **156a**,**b** & **163a**, having a 1,2 disubstituted pattern as the major product. These cycloheptenyne complexes possess an allylsilane functionality and a silyl group at β -position, therefore, they could be used to further functionalize the cycloheptyne ring.

Attempted tandem Nicholas 4+3 cycloadditions of allyltrimetal **149** with substrate **162** were tried but afforded a low yield of silyl cycloheptenyne dicobalt complex **163a** mainly to due to the formation of **163b**.

61

2.5 Experimental Section

General Methods

All dry solvents were distilled from the appropriate drying agent prior to use. Diethyl ether tetrahydrofuran and benzene were distilled from sodiumbenzophenone ketyl, while dichloromethane was dried from calcium hydride. Most of the reactions were performed under a nitrogen atmosphere. The term "-78°C" refers to a bath containing solid CO₂ and acetone. The term 0°C refers to an ice bath.

A typical work-up was to quench the reaction with either a saturated ammonium chloride or saturated sodium bicarbonate solution, followed by extraction of the organic product from the aqueous phase with diethyl ether or dichloromethane. The organic solution was then dried over anhydrous magnesium sulphate. Filtration and evaporation of the solvent under reduced pressure yielded the crude product.

All column chromatography was performed using 230-400 Mesh silica gel from SiliCycle Chemical Division. Merck precoated silica gel 60 F_{254} sheets were used for analytical thin layer chromatography (TLC), while preparative thin layer chromatography was carried out using Analtech silica gel GF-254 plates. Flash chromatography refers to Still's method.⁶⁹

¹H-NMR spectra were recorded on either a Brüker Avance 300 or 500MHz spectrometer at room temperature in CDCl₃ solution, unless otherwise stated. Proton decoupled ¹³C-NMR spectra were obtained on a Brüker Avance 300 spectrometer at

62

75MHz in CDCl₃ at room temperature. IR spectra were recorded as neat on KBr plates using a Brüker Vector 22 FT–IR spectrophotometer. Maxima are reported as wavenumber (cm⁻¹). Mass spectra were run on a Varian Saturn 2000 GC/MS direct probe using the electron impact mode; high mass accuracy mass spectra were obtained from the McMaster Regional Centre for Mass Spectroscopy.

3-Methoxy-1-propyne(164)

MeO

Prepared by the method of Brandsma⁷⁰ in 57% yield, bp 60-62°C; Lit. bp 61°C

3-Methoxy-1-butyne(165)

MeC

Prepared by similar method to **164** from 3-butyne-2-ol in 57% yield bp 60-6°C; Lit. bp 61° C.

Methyl 4-Methoxy-2-pentynoate (166)



To a stirred solution of **165** (1.50g, 17.86 mmol) in dry THF (20 mL) at -78 ^oC was added methyllithium (1.20 equiv) dropwise. After stirring the solution for 5 minutes, 2 equivalents of methyl chloroformate dissolved in THF were added. The reaction was then allowed to warm to room temperature. Conventional workup and bulb to bulb distillation of the crude material afforded **166** (1.92 g, 76% yield): bp 95-100 ^oC/ 33-34 torr; IR (cm ⁻¹) 2928, 2854, 1721, 1256; ¹H-NMR: 4.17 (q 6.7 Hz 1H), 3.77 (s 3H), 3.41 (s 3H), 1.46 (d 6.7 Hz 3H); ¹³C-NMR: 153.7, 109.6, 86.9, 66.5, 56.8, 52.7, 21.0; Ms m/e 142 (M⁺), 127 (M⁺-CH₃), 111 (M⁺-OMe): HRMS m/e for C₇H. ¹⁰O₃ calculated (M⁺-CH₃) 127.0395, found 127.0397

4-Methoxy-1-phenyl-3-butyn-1-one (167)



To a stirred solution of **164** (0.83 g, 11.84 mmol) in dry THF (20 mL) at -78 0 C was added methyllithium (7.5 mL, 1.00 equiv.) followed by addition of anhydrous ZnCl₂ (1.36 g, 1.00 equiv) in 10 mL of dry THF dropwise. The dry ice/ acetone bath was removed and the solution was allowed to warm to room temperature. The white suspension solution was cooled to around 5-10 0 C in an ice/water bath. Freshly distilled benzoyl chloride (1.41 g, 0.01 mmol) in THF (10 mL) was added dropwise. The reaction was then allowed to warm to room temperature. Conventional workup and bulb to bulb distillation of the crude material afforded **167** (1.00 g, 58% yield) ⁷¹: bp 85-90°C/4torr; IR (cm ⁻¹)1789, 1726, 1279, 1213: ¹H-NMR: 8.15 (m 2H), 7.64 (m 1H), 7.51 (m 2H), 4.41 (s 2H), 3.51(s 3H); ¹³C-NMR: 177.2, 136.3, 134.3, 129.6, 128.6, 89.9, 84.2, 59.8, 58.2; MS m/e 174 (M⁺), 159 (M⁺ -CH₃), 144 (M⁺ -OMe); HRMS m/e for C₁₁H₁₀O₂ calculated (M⁺) 174.0681, found 174.0678.

5-Methoxy-3-pentyn-2-one (167a)

MeO

To a stirred solution of **164** (0.83 g, 11.8 mmol) in dry THF (20 mL) at -78 ^oC was added methyllithium (8 mL, 1.10 equiv) dropwise. After stirring the solution for 5 minutes, freshly distilled acetic anhydride (1.5 mL, 1.3 equiv.) in THF (5mL) was added dropwise by syringe pump over 0.5 h. The reaction was then allowed to warm to room temperature. Conventional workup and bulb to bulb distillation of the crude material afforded **168** (0.57 g, 48% yield)⁷²: bp 85-87°C/32 torr; IR (cm ⁻¹); 2934, 2852, 2211, 1678, 1241; ¹H-NMR: 4.22 (s 2H), 3.37 (s 3H), 2.32 (s 3H); ¹³C-NMR: 183.8, 87.1, 85.6, 59.3, 57.9, 32.4; Ms m/e; HRMS m/e for C₆H₈O₂ calculated (M⁺) 389.8985, found 389.8984.

Procedure A: Typical complexation reaction

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 -(4-methoxy-1-phenyl-but-3yn-1one)]dicobalt (138c)

Compound 167 (0.500 g, 2.87 mmol) was dissolved in anhydrous diethyl ether (6mL) and cooled to 0°C. Excess dicobalt octacarbonyl was added in one portion and stirred for 1 h. The reaction was then allowed to warm to room

temperature. The resulting solution was filtered through Celite[®] and concentrated *in vacuo*. Flash chromatography using 50:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether yielded **138c** (1.09 g 83%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2824, 2101, 2064, 2033, 1639,1600, 1029; ¹H-NMR : 8.01 (d 7.7 Hz 2H), 7.58 (t 7.3 Hz 1H), 7.48 (dd 7.7 Hz, 7.3 Hz 2H), 4.79 (s 2H), 3.58 (s 3H); ¹³C-NMR: 198.4, 193.0, 137.3, 133.1, 128.5, 128.4, 93.0, 84.2, 73.0, 59.2; MS m/e 404 (M⁺-2CO), 376 (M⁺-3CO), 348 (M⁺-4CO), 320 (M⁺-5CO); HRMS m/e for C. ${}_{15}H_{10}Co_2O_6$ calculated (M⁺-2CO) 403.9141 found 403.9156.

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η ⁴ -(ethyl 4-methoxy-2-pentynoate)] dicobalt (143)



Compound **166** (1.64 g 11.55 mmol) was complexed via procedure A. Flash chromatography using 50:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether gave (2.91g 59%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2986, 2953, 2828, 2102, 2073, 2015, 1711, 1222; ¹H-NMR : 4.50 (q 6.3Hz 1H), 3.87 (s 3H), 3.46 (s 3H), 1.50 (t 6.3Hz 3H); ¹³C-NMR: 198.2, 170.4, 100.0, 94.1, 76.8, 57.2, 53.0, 22.4; MS m/e 400 (M⁺-CO), 372 (M⁺-2CO), 344 (M⁺-3CO), 316 (M⁺-4CO), 288 (M⁺-5CO), 260 (M⁺-6CO); HRMS m/e for $C_{13}H_{120}Co_2O_9$ calculated (M⁺) 427.8989, found 427.9008.

(E)-Triethyl-(3-tributylstannanyl-1-propenyl)silane(56)

Bu₃Sn SiEt₃

Compound **56** was prepared by the method of Green and Patel⁶⁴ in 93% yield: b.p 80-110 ^oC/1 mmHg.

(E)-1,3-Bis(trimethylsilyl) propene(54)

Me₃Si SiMe₃

Compound **54** was prepared in 79% by the method of Takano³²: b.p 100-120 ^oC/ 4 mmHg.

3-Tributylstannyl-1,3-bis(trimethylsilyl) propene (149)

Me₃Si SiMe₃ SnBu₂

68

Compound **54** (6.00 g, 32.18 mmol) and TMEDA (4.1 mL, 1.1 equiv) in dry hexane (60 mL) was stirred at room temperature. Butyllithium (14 mL, 1,1 equiv) was added dropwise and the solution was left to stir for 22h. The orange solution was then cooled to -78 $^{\circ}$ C and freshly distilled Bu₃SnCl (9.6 mL,1.1 equiv) in 5 mL dry hexane was added dropwise. The solution was then allowed to warm to room temperature and stirred for 1h. After conventional workup and bulb to bulb distillation (100-120 $^{\circ}$ C/1 mmHg), gave **149** as clear oil (14.52 g, 93%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2959, 2922; ¹H-NMR : 6.04 (dd 18 Hz, 11.7 Hz 1H), 5.25 (d 18 Hz 1H), 1.64 (d 11.7 Hz 1H), 1.48 (m 6H), 1.34 (m 9H), 0.89 (m 12H), 0.02 (s 9H), 0.01 (s 9H); ¹³C-NMR: 147.5, 124.0, 29.2, 27.3, 13.7, 10.1, -0.4, -0.8; MS m/e 475.5, 418 (M ⁺-C₄H₉), 290, 234, 177; HRMS m/e for C₂₁H₄₅₈Si₂Sn calculated (M⁺-15) 461.2082 found 461.2082

Procedure B: Typical Nicholas condensation reactions

Hexacarbonyl [µ-n⁴-{(E)-1-phenyl-5,7-bis(trimethylsilyl)-6-hepten-2-yn-1-one}] dicobalt (150)



Compound **138c** (0.20 g, 0.44 mmol) and nucleophile **149** (0.62 g, 3 equiv) were dissolved in anhydrous dichloromethane (10.5 mL) and cooled to 0°C. Bu. $_2$ BOTf (1.30 mL, 3equiv) in dry dichloromethane (3 mL) was slowly added. The reaction was monitored by TLC. Upon completion (16 h), a saturated solution of NaHCO₃ was added. After a conventional workup, flash chromatography (50:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether) afforded complex **150** (0.24 g 90%) : IR (cm ⁻¹) 2957, 2095, 2059, 2029, 1642,1600. ¹H-NMR : 7.94 (d 7.2 Hz 2H), 7.59 (t 7.4 Hz 1H), 7.49 (m 2H), 5.85 (dd 8.8 Hz 18.6 Hz 1H), 5.48 (d 18.6 Hz 1H), 3.27 (m 2H), 1.94 (m 1H), 0.07 (s 9H), -0.13 (s 9H); ¹³C-NMR: 198.9, 192.7, 146.0, 137.2, 133.0, 129.4, 128.54, 128.46, 100.6, 87.2, 41.5, 34.1, -1.6, -3.4; MS m/e 614 (M⁺), 586 (M⁺-CO), 558 (M⁺-2CO), 530 (M⁺-3CO), 502(M⁺-4CO); HRMS m/e for C₂₅H₂₈Co₂O₇Si₂Na⁺ calculated 636.9930, found 636.9922.

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 -(4-methyl-5,7-bis(trimethylsilanyl)hept-6-en-2-ynoic acid methyl ester] dicobalt (151)

Compound 143 (233.9 mg, 0.55 mmol), nucleophile 149 (0.79 g, 3 equiv) and Bu₂BOTf (1.65 mL, 3equiv) were mixed via procedure B. After a conventional

workup, flash chromatography (50:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether) afforded complex **151** (0.29 g, 90%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2959, 2929, 2099, 2064, 2030, 1711, 1217; ¹H-NMR: 6.10 (dd 18.5 Hz, 10.1 Hz 1H), 5.96 (dd 18.9 Hz, 9.1 Hz 1H), 3.85 (s 3H), 3.83 (s 3H), 3.3 (m 2H), 2.13 (d 10.0 Hz 1H), 1.77 (t 9.5Hz 1H), 1.44 (d 2.9 Hz 3H), 1.43 (d 2.7Hz 3H), 0.01 (s 9H), 0.06 (s 9H), 0.05 (s 9H), 0.04 (s 9Hz); ¹³C-NMR: 198.9, 170.5, 170.0, 146.6, 142.0, 132.4, 131.0, 129.0, 127.3, 108.3, 108.1, 79.3, 77.9, 52.9, 47.1, 46.2, 41.1, 38.2, 37.6, 24.1, 22.8, 22.4, 19.7, -0.7, -1.3, -2.0; MS m/e 582 (M ⁺), 554 (M ⁺ -1CO), 526 (M ⁺ -2CO), 498 (M ⁺ -3CO), 470 (M ⁺ -4CO), 442 (M ⁺ - 5CO); HRMS m/e for $C_{21}H_{28}Co_2O_8Si_2Na^+$ calculated 604.9879, found 604.9981.

Procedure C: DIBAL-H Reduction and in-situ Acetylation

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η ⁴-acetic acid (E)-4-methyl-5,7-bis(trimethylsilyl)6-hepten-2ynyl ester] dicobalt (155)

Čo₂(CO)_e

Complex **151** (96 mg, 0.17 mmol) was dissolved in dry diethyl ether (10 mL) and cooled to -78 ^oC. DIBAL (1.7 mL, 10 equiv) in dry diethyl ether (3 mL) was

added dropwise to the cooled solution. The reaction was kept at -78 °C and monitored by TLC until the reduction was complete. A large excess of freshly distilled acetic anhydride (1 mL, 62 equiv) in dry diethyl ether (3 mL) was added to the mixture and the reaction was allowed to warm to room temperature. The acetylation progress was monitored by TLC. Upon completion of the reaction, a conventional workup and flash chromatography (50:1 petroleum ether: diethyl ether) afforded the diastereoisomeric products 155 (76 mg 77% 54:46 dr): IR (cm⁻¹) 2958, 2091, 2052, 2023, 1745; ¹H-NMR: 6.13 (dd 18.5 Hz, 10.2 Hz 1H), 6.01 (dd 18.9 Hz, 9.1 Hz 1H), 5.58 (d 18.5 Hz 1H), 5.53 (d 19 Hz 1H), 5.58 (d 14.2 Hz 1H), 5.26 (1/2ABg, 14.1Hz, 1H), 5.23 (1/2ABg, 14.1 Hz, 1H), 5.11 (1/2ABg, 14.1 1H), 3.24 (m) 2H), 2.13 (s 3H), 2.12 (s 3H), 2.09 (d 8.9Hz 1H), 1.77 (t 9.9 Hz 1H), 1.42 (d 2.2 Hz 3H), 1.40 (d 2.6 Hz 3H), 0.11 (s 9H), 0.10 (s 9H), 0.07 (s 18H); ¹³C-NMR: 199.9, 170.6, 170.6, 147.4, 142.2, 131.2, 129.0, 108.6, 106.6, 92.4, 92.4, 66.3, 64.9, 47.5, 47.1, 38.5, 38.3, 23.7, 20.5, 20.3, 20.2, -0.8, -1.3, -1.4; MS m/e 596 (M⁺), 568 (M⁺-1CO), 540 (M ⁺ -2CO), 512 (M ⁺ -3CO), 484 (M ⁺ -4CO), 456 (M ⁺ -5CO), 428 (M ⁺ -6CO); HRMS m/e for $C_{17}H_{30}Co_2O_3Si_2Na^+$ (M⁺ -5CO) calculated 479.0290, found 479.0232.

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η ⁴- (acetic acid (E)-1-phenyl-5,7-bis(trimethylsilyl)6-hepten--2ynyl ester)] dicobalt (154)

72



DIBAL reduction and acetylation of complex **150** (168 mg, 0.274 mmol) via procedure C afforded **154** (163 mg, 90% 54:46 dr): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2958, 2090, 2052, 2023, 1748; ¹H-NMR: 7.51-7.33 (m 10H), 7.01 (s 1H), 7.00 (s 1H), 5.96 (dd 18.8 Hz, 8.5 Hz 1H), (5.88 (dd 18.8 Hz, 8.4 Hz 1H), 5.53 (dd 18.8 Hz, 0.8 Hz 1H), 5.50 (dd 18.8 Hz, 1Hz), 2.94 (½ABq 15.8 Hz, 10.6 Hz 1H), 2.81 (m 3H), 2.19 (s 3H), 218 (s 3H), 1.91 (m 1H), 1.79 (m 1H), 0.06(s 9H), 0.04 (s 18H), 0.03 (s 9H), ; ¹³C-NMR: 199.4,169.7,169.6, 147.1, 147.1, 140.8, 140.6, 128.6, 128.5, 128.4, 128.2, 128.1, 125.8, 125.7, 100.0, 99.6, 97.3, 75.5, 40.5, 40.2, 32.3, 32.2, 22.6, 20.7, 14.1, -1.0, -1.3, -3.4, -3.5; MS m/e 574 (M⁺-3CO), 546 (M⁺-4CO), 518 (M⁺-5CO), 490 (M⁺-6CO):

<u>Hexacarbonyl [μ - η ⁴-(trimethyl-(7-phenyl-cyclohept-2en-5-ynyl)-silane] dicobalt</u> (cis/trans156)



73

The diastereoisomeric mixtures (67:33) of **154** (225.5 mg, 0.34 mmol) dissolved in dry benzene (17 mL) at room temperature and BF₃.OEt₂ (200 μ L, 5 equiv) were mixed via procedure B. A conventional workup and flash chromatography (100% petroleum ether) gave trans-**156** and cis-**156** (67:33) as an inseparable mixture (164 mg, 92%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 3029, 2955, 2090, 2048, 1583, 1055, 840; ¹H-NMR (CD₂Cl₂): 7.32 (m 5H), 5.90 (m 1H), 5.81 (m 1H), 4.18 (d 10.8 Hz 1H), 3.66 (m 2H), 2.38 (m 1H) , 0.17 (s 9H); (minor isomer) 7.24 (m 5H), 6.10 (m 2H), 4.47 (d 4.5 Hz 1H), 3.78 (d 18.7 Hz 1H), 3.71 (m 1H), 2.29 (m 1H) , -0.16 (s 9H); ¹³C-NMR: 200.5, 145.3, 145.0, 133.5, 133.2, 131.4, 129.6, 129.1, 128.7, 128.7, 127.4, 110.2, 109.1, 97.2, 93.8, 52.5, 50.9, 35.1, 34.5, 34.1, 33.3, -1.8, -2.4; MS m/e 526 (M ⁺), 470 (M ⁺-2CO), 442 (M ⁺-3CO), 414 (M ⁺-4CO), 386 (M ⁺-5CO), 358 (M ⁺ -6CO); HRMS m/e for C₂₂H₁₉Co₂O₆Si (M⁺-1) calculated 524.9615, found 524.9589.

Hexacarbonyl [μ-η⁴-(6- methyl -7- trimethylsilyl -cyclohept-1-en-4-yne)] dicobalt (157)



The diastereoisomeric mixtures (64:36) of **155** (61.2 mg, 0.10 mmol) was dissolved in dry benzene (5 mL) at room temperature and BF₃.OEt₂ (70.5 mg, 5

equiv.) were mixed via procedure B. After conventional workup and flash chromatography (100% petroleum ether) **156**a,b,c (70:19:11) were obtained (28.9 mg, 59% yield): IR (cm ⁻¹); ¹H-NMR: (**156**a) 60.5 (m 1H), 5.85 (m 1H), 3.72 (d 18.8 Hz 1H), 3.62 (dd 18.8 Hz, 7.2 Hz 1H), 3.43 (dq 7.2 Hz, 2.7 Hz 1H), 1.91 (d 7.7 Hz 1H), 1.21 (d 7.2Hz 3H), 0.12(s 9H); (**156b**) 5.8 (hidden 1H), 5.76 (m 1H), 3.84 (br 1H), 3.22 (d 17.0 Hz, 1H), 2.80 (dd 17.0 Hz, 13.3 Hz 1H); ¹³C-NMR:200.5, 132.5, 132.1, 110.6, 94.1, 40.5, 34.4, 33.4, 20.8, -2.1; MS m/e 464 (M ⁺), 436 (M ⁺ -CO), 408 (M ⁺ -2CO), 380 (M ⁺ -3CO), 352 (M ⁺ -4CO), 324 (M ⁺ -5CO), 296 (M ⁺ -6CO); HRMS m/e for C₁₆H₁₈Co₂O₅Si (M⁺ -CO) calculated 435.9587 found 435.9587.

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 – (7-trimethylsilylcyclohept-1-en-4-yne)]dicobalt (163a)

SiMe, Ċo₂(CO)₆

Compound **162** (156 mg, 0.34 mmol) and **149** (162 mg, 0.34) were dissolved in dry benzene (2 mL) at room temperature and BF₃.OEt₂ (241 mg, 5 equiv) in of dry benzene (5 mL) were mixed via procedure B. A conventional workup and flash chromatography (100% petroleum ether) **163a** was obtained (73.9 mg, 48%): IR (cm $^{-1}$) 2956, 2089, 2055, 2012; ¹H-NMR: 5.93 (m 1H), 5.83 (m 1H), 3.73 (d 18.8 Hz 1H), 3.62 (dd 18.8 Hz, 6.2 Hz 1H), 3.20 (dd 16.7 Hz, 2.4 Hz 1H), 2.83 (dd 16.7 Hz, 12.9 Hz 1H), 1.73 (m 1H), 0.08 (s 9H); ¹³C-NMR: 200.5, 133.6, 130.4, 102.9, 95.8, 35.4,

33.3, 28.8, -5.0; MS m/e 450 (M ⁺), 422 (M ⁺-CO), 394 (M ⁺-2CO), 366 (M ⁺-3CO), 338 (M ⁺-4CO), 310 (M ⁺-5CO), 282 (M ⁺-6CO) ; HRMS m/e for C₁₅H₁₆Co₂O₅Si (M⁺ -CO) calculated 421.9431, found 421.9424.

•

3.0 Intramolecular Pauson-Khand Reactions

3.1 Intermolecular Pauson-Khand Reaction on Cycloheptyne-Co₂(CO)₆ Complexes

Cycloheptanes fused to five or six membered ring systems are widely encountered in nature particularly among the terpenoid classes of compounds⁷³. Examples of classes of compounds having fused 7,5 ring system are shown in figure 55. There is a general paucity for direct synthetic methods⁷⁴ to access them. Therefore, it would be a highly valuable method to first synthesize an appropriate cycloheptyne dicobalt complex and then capitalize on the hidden triple bond to fuse it into a cyclopentane ring through a Pauson-Khand reaction. Heating the cycloheptyne complex in the presence of an alkene should furnish a fused 7, 5- ring system.



Figure 55. Examples of Fused 7,5 Ring Systems Found in Nature

3.2 Attempted Formation of Cycloheptyne- $Co_2(CO)_6$ Bearing an Oxygen Function Via 4+3 cycloaddition Reactions

An early study of the Pauson-Khand reactions of cycloheptenyne complexes was undertaken in our laboratories.⁶⁶ Given that not all of the currently available additives or conditions were available at that time, the results suggest that the cycloheptenyne-Co₂(CO)₆ complex behaves as a standard alkyne for Pauson-Khand purposes; bridged bicyclic alkenes participate well in the cycloaddition (**168a/168b**), whereas ordinary alkenes give little or no yields of 2+2+1 adduct. Attempts to employ thiomethyl substituted alkenes (**169a/169b**) or silylated allenes (**170a/170b**),

in the fashion of Krafft³⁹ and Cazes,⁷⁵ respectively, produced some amount of Pauson-Khand products but were at best marginal in yield. High regioselectivity in these cycloadditions was neither expected nor observed, given the very limited steric differences between CH₂-CH₂-CH₂ and CH₂-CH=CH functions. Our conclusion based on these results was that the Pauson-Khand reactions on cycloheptynedicobalt complexes should be rendered intramolecular in order to have a greater likelihood of high chemical yields, as well as high regioselectivity.



Figure 56. Intermolecular Pauson-Khand on Cycloheptenyne Dicobalt Complex⁶⁶

79

Our initial efforts to form cycloheptynedicobalt complexes containing propargylic oxygen based functions centered on the 4+3 reaction of allyldimetal equivalent **56** and γ -alkoxyalkynone complexes (**138b,c,172**), reasoning that these reactions would be able to give complexes **178** in one synthetic operation. Compounds **138b** and **138c** have been synthesized previously in our laboratory; compound **172** could be easily prepared by deprotonation of methyl propargyl ether with methyllithium and trapping the resulting alkynyllithium with isobutyryl chloride, followed by conventional workup and distillation to afford a colorless oil in 56% yield. Complexation of **171** by Co₂(CO)₈ under conventional conditions furnished **172** in 63% yield.⁷¹



Figure 57. Preparation of Complex 172

80

The synthesis of complex **175** began with deprotonation of 3,3diethoxypropyne with methyllithium in dry diethyl ether, followed by addition of paraformaldehyde and after conventional workup to give alcohol **173** in 51% yield.⁷⁶ Deprotonation of **173** with potassium hydride in diethyl ether at room temperature and quenching of resulting alkoxide with iodomethane afforded methyl ether **174** in 86% yield.⁷⁷ Subsequent complexation with Co₂(CO)₈ afforded complex **175** in 79% yield.



Figure 58. Preparation of Complex 175

With the starting materials available, the possibility of forming cycloheptenyne dicobalt complex bearing an alcohol or an alkoxy group by Lewis acid mediated

reaction with **56** was investigated. After several attempts and using various reaction conditions, however, there was not a trace of the desired product **178** obtained. On the other hand, the reactions provided the elimination products **176 a,b,c** and **177** together with acyclic byproducts **136** and **137**; optimization of **176-177** gave these compounds in synthetically useful yield. The transient formation of the desired products **178** could be inferred from the elimination byproducts **176 a,b,c**. Apparently **178** could not survive the acidic media. Therefore, any attempts to synthesize cycloheptyne-Co₂(CO)₆ under acidic conditions were abandoned.



Figure 59. Formation of Cycloheptadienyne Complexes

The cyclic diene formation was confirmed by NMR (¹H and ¹³C) spectroscopy. The resonances for three distinct olefenic protons, between 6.4 and 5.6 ppm for 176 **a,b,c** and four olefenic protons between 5.7 and 6.7 ppm in **177** could be observed in the ¹H-NMR spectra. The ¹³C-NMR spectrum of **177** showed four sp² carbons ranging between 120-146 ppm and a single sp³ carbon at 36 ppm. The facile elimination to form cycloheptadienyne complex was later confirmed [*vide infra*] in the Nicholas reactions of cycloheptenyne dicobalt complexes bearing an acetoxy group. These cycloheptadienyne-Co₂(CO)₆ complexes are thermally stable and can be chromatographed easily. Compound **177** was found to be volatile under high vaccum. The vinylsilane side products **180a,b,c** arose from the allylic rearrangement of the tin moiety in nucleophile **56**, while acyclic product **179** arose from the addition of allyltriethylsilane to substrates **140 b,c**. Apparently complete destannylation of **56** to allyltriethylsilane occurred prior to the addition reaction.

3.3 Formation of Cycloheptyne-Co₂(CO)₆ by Ring Closing Metathesis

It became apparent that an alternative, non Lewis acidic route was required for the preparation of cycloheptyne complexes bearing an oxygen function. Green⁷⁸ has reported the preparation of cyloheptyne dicobalt complexes bearing an acetoxy group at the propargylic position by ring closing metathesis in excellent yields.⁷⁹ Using this synthetic method, we prepared the appropriate acyclic diene complex by the route illustrated in (Fig. 60).



Figure 60. Preparation of Acyclic Dienol Acetate Complex 179

Propargyl allyl ether was prepared by using a modification of the known procedure.⁸⁰ Starting from the commercially available propargyl alcohol, deprotonation by aqueous KOH and aikylation with allyl bromide, followed by distillation and drying over anhydrous sodium sulfate, afforded propargyl allyl ether in 84% yield. Treatment of the propargyl allyl ether with 2 equivalents of butyllithium

in diethyl ether converted it to the known alcohol⁸¹ **182** through a [2,3]- Wittig rearrangement⁸². Normally [1,2] Wittig rearrangement competes with the [2,3] rearrangement, but in this case both rearrangements would deliver the desired alcohol (**182**). Deprotonation of alcohol **182** with the 2 equivalents of isopropylmagnesium chloride, followed by the slow addition of allyl bromide in the presence of a catalytic amount of Cu(I)Cl afforded alcohol **184** in 55% yield⁸³. Acetylation of the dienyl alcohol under conventional conditions furnished dienyl acetate **185**. Complexation of the dienyl acetate **184** then afforded the desired diene dicobalt complex **186**. The cycloheptenyne dicobalt complex **187** bearing an acetoxy group at the propargyl carbon was prepared in 82% yield by treating **186** in CH₂Cl₂ with the first generation Grubbs' catalyst.





The ¹H-NMR, ¹³C-NMR and IR spectra of **187** were identical to those published earlier. Although complex **187** is stable for long periods under nitrogen and low temperature, its handling in air for long period of time brought significant

amount of decomposition of the complex. The fickleness of complex **187** was addressed by reducing the double bond with Raney Nickel[®] to complex **188**, which has greater air stability and is more easily handled.



Figure 62. Raney Nickel Reduction of Complex 187 and PCMODEL MMX Minimization of Cycloheptyne-OAc Complex

86

3.4 Nicholas Chemistry on Cycloheptenyne/Cycloheptyne Cobalt Complexes

Substrates **187** and **188** were used to study Lewis acid mediated Nicholas reactions with nucleophiles containing an alkene function. Various allyl alcohols, allyl thiol, and homoallyl alcohol were employed in the presence of BF₃.OEt₂. The condensations were straightforward; reaction at room temperature for substrate **187** (Fig. 62) and 0 ^oC for substrate **188** (Fig.63) gave the corresponding propargyl allyl ethers, propargyl allyl thioethers, and propargyl homoallyl ether **189-194** in good to excellent yields. At the beginning of these studies, using room temperature reaction, 10 equivalents of the nucleophile and 5 equivalents of BF₃.OEt₂ conditions were used for substrate **187** and trace amount of diene **177** was formed along with the desired **189** and **190**. However, use of lower temperature (0 ^oC) and slower addition of the Lewis acid was found to completely suppress the competitive elimination process. Therefore, the latter reaction condition was adopted as the standard procedure, unless it failed to form the Nicholas adduct.

87



Figure 63. Tethered Alkene Incorporation on Cycloheptenyne Dicobalt Complexes 187

It is our belief based on molecular mechanics calculations (MM3, CACHE[®] MM2, PC Model) that cycloheptyne dicobalt complexes are in chair-like conformations (Fig 62). From the coupling constants (10.0-10.7 Hz and 4.2-4.5 Hz) of the substituted propargylic methine proton in each of the cyloheptyne dicobalt complexes (for example **188,191,192,193**, and **194**), it is clear that there are axial-axial and axial-equatorial couplings of the protons, suggesting strongly that the proton is axial, and therefore that the allyloxy and thioallyl functions are equatorially disposed.

88


194

Figure 64. Tethered Alkene Incorporation on Cycloheptyne Dicobalt Complexes 188

Attempts to incorporate a nitrogen function at the propargylic position met with considerable difficulty. The Lewis acid mediated reaction of allylamine with

188 did not progress, likely due to the Lewis basicity of the amine function. A nitrogen function could be incorporated at the propargylic position by Ritter reaction⁸⁴ of complex **188** with acetonitrile in the presence of H_2SO_4 , giving **195** in excellent yield (91% yield). However, attempts to reduce the amide functional group in **195** to the desired amine **196** without concomitant destruction of the alkynedicobalt hexcarbonyl unit were futile.⁸⁵

Faced with this difficulty, resort was made to the tactic of Amouri and Gruselle⁸⁶, which involves generation of a discrete sulfonium ion as a propargyl cation equivalent, and subsequent addition of the nucleophile. In the event, the addition of HBF₄ to complex **188** in Et₂O, in the presence of dimethyl sulfide generated sulfonium ion **197** in quantative yield. Addition of 1 equivalent of allylamine and 2 equivalents of diisopropylethylamine as a proton scavenger in dichloromethane to a solution of the sulfonium complex in dichloromethane, and subsequent treatment of the crude material with acetic anhydride or p-toluenesulfonic anhydride afforded the propargylic allyl amine complex **198** (73% yield from **188**) or propargyl allyl sulfonamide **199** (62% yield from **188**), respectively, in reasonable synthetic yields (Fig. 65).

90



Figure 65. Formation of Nitrogen Linked Enyne Complex

3.5 Intramolecular Pauson-Khand Reactions of Tethered Enyne Complexes

With the appropriate cycloheptyne tethered alkene complexes available, we focused our attention on the study of the PKR of these complexes. We chose **199** for the investigation under several sets of conditions for the Pauson-Khand reaction (Fig. 66). The Sugihara amine^{49a} conditions (CyNH₂, CICH₂CH₂Cl, reflux) indeed gave Pauson-Khand product **200** in 65% yield, as a 84:16 mixture of diastereoisomers favoring the *cis* isomer, along with a smaller amount of Pauson-Khand/allylic reduction product **201** (12.5%). Attempted use of the Sugihara sulfide^{49b} conditions (BuSMe, CICH₂CH₂Cl, reflux) eliminated completely the byproduct **201**, but at the expense of **200** (51%, 67:33 *cis:trans*). In addition, Me₃NO (49% yield of **200**, 55:45 *cis:trans*) and refluxing toluene (20% **200**, 54:46 *cis:trans*) were judged inferior to the Sugihara amine conditions. Consequently, the Sugihara amine conditions were chosen for all substrates, and only in the case of failure of these conditions were other protocols adopted.

92



Figure 66. PKR of Cycloheptyne Complex 190 Under Different Protocols

Substrate **189** under went a PKR, using the Sugihara amine conditions to afford a 91:9 diastereoisomeric mixture of tricyclic ethers **202** in 89% yield. Under analogous conditions, thioethers **203** (57%, 67:33 dr) and **204** (73%, 77:23 dr) were also obtained in good yields from compounds **190** and **192**, respectively (Fig. 67). Homoallylic tethered cycloheptyne dicobalt complex **193** also cleanly provided tricyclic ether **205** (60:40 dr) in 73% yield.



Figure 67. PKR of Allyl and Homoallyl Ether and Allyl Thioethers Cycloheptyne Complexes

The Sugihara cyclohexylamine conditions were judged as failures in two cases. When substrate **194**, which bears a 2,2-disubstitution on the alkene, was subjected to the Sugihara amine conditions, no tricyclic products could be isolated, but only bicyclic alcohol **206** in 14% yield. However, by using trimethylamine N-oxide (TMANO) and low reaction temperature, the desired tricyclic material **207** was obtained as a single diastereoisomer in 59% yield (65% based on recovered

material) (Fig. 68). Similarly, substrate **199** failed to provide the tricyclic amide **208** when the Sugihara amine conditions were employed. Nevertheless, by using Sugihara n-butyl methyl sulfide method, the intended product **208** was obtained in 51% yield.



Figure 68. PKR of Substituted 1,1-Alkene and Nitrogen Linked Alkene Cycloheptyne Complexes

3.6 The Stereochemical Assignments of the PKR Products

Prior to this study, a related tricyclic product **210** (8,5,5 instead of 7,5,5 ring system) was published by the Schreiber's group.¹⁵ A thermal PKR of complex **209** afforded a single tricyclic diasteroisomer **210** in high yield. The *cis* relationship of the two methine protons indicated in **210** was established by ¹H-NMR (Fig. 69). Recently, another related PKR product, tricyclic **212** (9,5,5 ring system) was synthesized by the Young group.⁸⁷ An intramolecular PKR of complex **211** under Sugihara sulfide conditions afforded tricyclic **212** in 54% yield. The authors assigned the stereochemistry of the two indicated methine protons as the *cis* configuration.



209





210

To our surprise, the ¹H NMR spectra of majority of the PKR adduct did not give nOe enhancements between the methine hydrogen atoms for either diastereomer indicated (Fig. 67). Conversely, the 2D-NOESY spectrum of methyl substituted **207** displayed a positive nOe between the methine hydrogen and the methyl hydrogens, establishing their relationship as *cis*. The methine H atoms α- to the heteroatoms of **207** and the major diastereomers of the cycloheptane products **200**, **2005**, and **208** also displayed very similar ¹H NMR vicinal coupling constants (dd, 9.9-10.9 Hz, 4.2-5.7 Hz). This pattern was not repeated in the minor diastereomers. However, an X-ray diffraction study performed on the *minor* isomer of **204** indicated a *trans* relationship between the two methines. The stereochemical assignment of **202** & **203** were based on analogy as well as the extensive calculations done on the proposed alkene coordination intermediate, the alkene insertion transition state (MMX, PCMODEL; MM3, CACHE[®]) and on **202** & **203** themselves (PM3, CACHE[®]).



Figure 70. Single Crystal Structure of the trans-lsomer 204

3.7 Summary

We have tried to synthesize cycloheptyne-Co₂(CO)₆ bearing a hydroxyl or ethoxy group (i.e. **178**) at the propargylic carbon through 4+3 cycloaddition. Unfortunately, the desired complexes were not stable enough in the reaction medium to be isolated. However, we did isolate the hydrolyzed cycloheptadienyne complexes in good yields. Nevertheless, we were able to develop a rapid and facile method to prepare cycloheptenyne and cycloheptyne dicobalt complexes bearing an acetoxy functional group at the propargylic carbon and through ring closing metathesis (**187**) in excellent yield and Raney Nickel[®] reduction (**188**).

These complexes could be functionalized easily via Nicholas reactions in excellent yield. We were able to prepare oxygen, sulphur, and nitrogen tethered alkenes that participated Pauson-Khand reactions affording tricyclic compound **200**, **201**, **202**, **204**, **205**, **207**, and **208** in good to excellent yield.

3.8 Experimental Section

6-Methoxy-2-methyl-hex-4-yn-3-one (171)



To a stirred solution of **164** (0.83 g, 11.84 mmol) in dry THF (20 mL) at -78 $^{\circ}$ C was added methyllitium (7.5 mL, 1.00 equiv.). Freshly distilled isobutyryl chloride (1.5 mL, 1.5 equiv.) was added dropwise and the solution was allowed to warm to room temperature. A conventional workup and bulb to bulb distillation of the crude material afforded **167** (0.78 g, 56% yield): bp 108-110°C/32 torr; IR; (cm ⁻¹) 2938, 2827, 2209, 1681, 1226; ¹H-NMR: 4.29 (s 2H), 3.43 (s 3H), 2.67 (septet. 7.0 Hz, 1H), 1.21 (d 7.0 Hz 6H); ¹³C-NMR: 191.5, 88.3, 84.4, 59.6, 58.0, 42.9, 17.8

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 -(6-methoxy-2-methylhex-4-yn-3-one)] dicobalt (172)

MeC Ċo(CO),

100

Compound **171** (400 mg 2.85 mmol) was complexed via procedure A. Flash chromatography using 50:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether gave **172** (770 mg, 63% yield): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2976, 2935, 2824, 2101, 2064, 2033, 1671, 1098; ¹H-NMR : 4.62 (s 2H), 3.52 (s 3H); 2.99 (septet 6.8Hz 1H), 1.23 (d 6.8 Hz 6H); ¹³C-NMR: 207.2, 198.3, 93.9, 85.3, 72.6, 59.1, 41.8, 19.2; MS m/e 398 (M⁺-CO), 370 (M⁺-2CO), 342 (M⁺-3CO), 314 (M⁺-4CO), 286 (M⁺-5CO), 258 (M⁺-6CO); HRMS m/e for $C_{14}H_{12}Co_2$. O₈ calculated (M⁺) 425.91961, found. 425.919067.

(Hexacarbonyl) [µ-ŋ⁴ –(5-methoxy pent-3-yn-2-one)] dicobalt (138b)



Compound **140b** (122 mg, 1.09 mmol) was complexed via procedure A. Flash chromatography using 50:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether gave **138b** (400 mg 63% yield): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2927, 2102, 2063, 2031,1673, 1053; ¹H-NMR: δ 4.61 (s 2H), 3.50 (s 3H); 3.0 (septet 3H); ¹³C-NMR: ; MS m/e 398 (M⁺-CO), 370 (M⁺-2CO), 342 (M⁺-3CO), 314 (M⁺-4CO), 286 (M⁺-5CO), 258 (M⁺-6CO); HRMS m/e for C₁₃H₁₂Co₂-O₇ calculated(M⁺-CO) 369.8934 found 369.8925.

4,4-Diethoxybut-2-yn-1-ol (173)

Н-О

To a stirred solution of the commercially available 3,3-diethoxy-propyne (0.63 g, 4.92 mmol) in dry Et₂O (20 mL) at -78 0 C was added methyllithium (4 mL, 1.2 equiv) dropwise over 30 minutes. The solution was allowed to warm to room temperature and paraformaldehyde (0.18 g, 1.2 equiv) was added. A conventional workup and bulb to bulb distillation of the crude material afforded **173** (0.40 g, 51% yield): bp 110-120°C/3 torr; IR (cm ⁻¹) 3430, 2978, 2895, 1052; ¹H-NMR: 5.13 (s 1H), 4.13 (s 2H), 3.75 (br 1H), 3.58 (m 2H), 3.42 (m 2H), 1.06 (m 6H); ¹³C-NMR: 90.8, 83.7, 79.8, 60.5, 49.8, 14.5.

1,1-Diethoxy-4-methoxybut-2-yne (174)



To a solution of potassium hydride (675 mg of 30% oil dispersion, 5.06 mmol), washed free of mineral oil by dry diethyl ether, in THF (25 mL) at room temperature was added **173** (400 mg, 2.53 mmol) and the white suspension was left

to stir for 1 hr. Iodomethane (0.3 mL, 2 equiv.) in THF (5mL) was added dropwise and left to stir for additional hour. The color of the solution gradually changed to dark brown. A conventional workup and bulb to bulb distillation of the crude material afforded **174** (0.37 g, 86% yield): bp 90-100°C/11 torr; IR (cm ⁻¹) 2978, 2932, 2887, 1054; ¹H-NMR: 5.26 (s 1H), 4.11 (s 2H), 3.67 (m 2H), 3.54 (m 2H), 3.33 (s 3H), 1.18 (m 6H); ¹³C-NMR: 91.1, 81.6, 81.0, 60.7, 59.5, 57.4, 14.8.

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 –(1,1-Diethoxy-4-methoxy-but-2-yne)] dicobalt (175)



Compound **174** (350 mg, 2.03 mmol) was complexed via procedure A. Chromatography employing neutral alumina and using 50:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether gave **175** (725mg, 79% yield): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2981, 2933, 2822, 2096, 2055, 2026, 1098, 1061; ¹H-NMR: 5.5 (s 1H), 4.60 (s 2H), 3.80 (m 2H), 3.67 (m 2H), 3.52 (s 3H), 1.24 (m 6H); ¹³C-NMR: 199.7, 102.0, 92.5, 91.3, 72.8, 63.3, 58.9, 15.0; MS m/e 458 (M⁺), 430 (M⁺-CO), 402 (M⁺-2CO), 374 (M⁺-3CO), 346 (M⁺-4CO), 318 (M⁺-5CO), 290 (M⁺-6CO), HRMS m/e for C₁₅H₁₆Co₂O₉ calculated (M⁺) 457.9458 found 457.9456.

Hexacarbonyl [μ -n⁴-(4-methylcyclohepta-1,3-dien-5-yne)] dicobalt (176a)



Complex **140b** (196 mg, 0.49 mmol), nucleophile **56** (656 mg, 3 equiv) in dry benzene (2 mL) and Bu₂BOTf (1.50 mL, 3 equiv.) in dry benzene (5 mL) were mixed at room temperature via procedure B. After conventional workup and flash chromatography (100% petroleum ether), **176a** was obtained (90 mg, 47%) IR: (cm⁻¹) 2957, 2090, 2053, 2022; ¹H-NMR: 5.91 (d 7.7 Hz 1H), 5.82 (m 1H), 5.70 (dt 12.0 Hz, 4.5 Hz 1H), 3.79 (d 4.0 Hz 2H), 2.16 (s 3H); ¹³C-NMR: 200.5, 137.5, 128.0, 123.6, 117.6, 94.1, 35.1, 23.1; MS m/e 390 (M⁺), 362 (M⁺-CO), 334 (M⁺-2CO), 306 (M⁺-3CO), 278 (M⁺-4CO), 250 (M⁺-5CO), 222 (M⁺-6CO), 389 (M⁺-1), 361 (M⁺-1-CO), 333 (M⁺-1-2CO), 305 (M⁺-1-3CO), 277 (M⁺-1-4CO), 249 (M⁺-1-5CO), 221 (M⁺-1-6CO), HRMS m/e for C₁₄H₈Co₂O₆ calculated (M⁺) 389.8985 found 389.8984.

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 -(4-isopropylcyclohepta-1,3-dien-5-yne)] dicobalt (176b)

;o_(CO)

104

Complex **171** (190 mg, 0.45 mmol), nucleophile **56** (602 mg, 3 equiv.) in dry benzene (4.5 mL) and Bu₂BOTf (1.35 mL, 3 equiv) in dry benzene (2 mL) were mixed at room temperature via procedure B. After conventional workup and flash chromatography (100% petroleum ether), **176b** was obtained (259.2 mg, 62%) IR: (cm ⁻¹) 2958, 2876,2095, 2059, 2031; ¹H-NMR: 6.00 (d 7.7 Hz 1H), 5.91 (m 1H), 5.73 (dt 11.9 Hz, 4.6 Hz 1H), 3.79 (d 4.6 Hz 2H), 2.68 (sept 6.9 Hz 1H), 1.23 (d 6.9Hz 6H); ¹³C-NMR: 200.0, 147.8, 128.5, 128.2, 99.8, 88.4, 35.5, 35.2, 31.9, 23.0; MS m/e 418 (M⁺), 362 (M⁺-2CO), 334 (M⁺-3CO), 306 (M⁺-4CO), 278 (M⁺-5CO), 250 (M⁺-6CO), HRMS m/e for $C_{14}H_{12}Co_2O_4$ calculated (M⁺-2CO) 361.9400, found 361.9394.

Hexacarbonyl [μ-η⁴-(4-phenylcyclohepta-1,3-dien-5-yne)] dicobalt (176c)



Complex **140c** (300 mg, 0.65 mmol), nucleophile **56** (870 mg, 3 equiv) in dry dichloromethane (6.5 mL) and Bu₂BOTf (1.95 mL, 3 equiv.) in dry dichloromethane (2 mL) were mixed at -15 ^oC via procedure B. After conventional workup and flash chromatography (100% petroleum ether), **176c** was obtained (575 mg, 88%) IR: (cm ⁻¹) 2925, 2091, 2054, 2022, 1596; ¹H-NMR: 7.62 (d 7.2 Hz 2H), 7.39 (t 7.2 Hz 2H),

7.31 (t 7.2 Hz 1H), 6.43 (d 7.7 Hz 1H), 6.08 (m 1H), 5.88 (dt 11.9 Hz, 4.7 Hz 1H), 3.88 (dd 4.7 Hz, 1.3 Hz 2H); ¹³C-NMR: 199.5, 141.4, 141.2, 129.6, 128.8, 12.8.2, 127.9, 126.5, 124.6, 101.1, 86.7, 35.5; MS m/e 452 (M⁺), 424 (M⁺-CO), 396 (M⁺-2CO), 368 (M⁺-3CO), 340 (M⁺-4CO), 312 (M⁺-5CO), 284 (M⁺-6CO), HRMS m/e for $C_{19}H_{10}Co_2O_6$ calculated (M⁺) 451.9141 found 451.9132.

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 -(cyclohepta-1,3-dien-5-yne)] dicobalt (177)



Complex **175** (380 mg, 0.86 mmol), nucleophile **56** (3 equiv) in dry dichloromethane (8.6 mL) and Bu₂BOTf (2.6 mL, 3 equiv) in dry dichloromethane (2 mL) were mixed at 0 $^{\circ}$ C via procedure B. After conventional workup and flash chromatography (100% petroleum ether), **177** was obtained (249 mg, 77%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 3025, 2958, 2095, 2046; ¹H-NMR: 6.68 (d 9.7 Hz 1H), 6.07 (dd 7.5 Hz, 9.7 Hz 1H), 5.92 (m 1H), 5.80 (m 1H), 3.86 (m 2H), ¹³C-NMR: 200.0, 130.7, 129.4, 128.0, 126.9, 117.6, 98.3, 35.6; MS m/e 376 (M⁺), 348 (M⁺-CO), 320 (M⁺-2CO), 292 (M⁺-3CO), 264(M⁺-4CO), 375 (M⁺-1), 347 (M⁺-1-CO), 319 (M⁺-1-2CO), 291 (M⁺-1-3CO), 263 (M⁺-1-4CO) HRMS m/e for C₁₃H₆Co₂O₆ calculated (M⁺) 375.8828 found 375.8809.

Hex-5-en-1-yn-3-ol (183)

A stirred solution of allyl propargyl ether (5.30 g, 55 mmol) in dry diethyl ether (20 mL) was cooled to ~78 ^oC. Butyllithium (44 mL, 2.0 equiv) was added dropwise and the solution was allowed to warm to room temperature and was left to stir overnight. A conventional workup and bulb to bulb distillation of the crude material afforded **183** (3.18 g, 60% yield): bp 140-150 ^oC; The above product was spectroscopically identical to literature.⁸⁹

Nona-1,8-dien-5-yn-4-ol (184)

To a stirred solution of **183** (2.00g, 20.83 mmol) in dry THF (20 mL) at -78 ^oC was added isopropylmagnesium chloride (21 mL, 2 equiv.) dropwise and the solution was then allowed to warm to 0 ^oC. A catalytic amount of Cu(I)CI (30-50 mg) was

added and after stirring the solution for 30 minutes, allyl bromide (1.8 mL, 1 equiv) dissolved in THF (5 mL) was added and the reaction was then allowed to warm to room temperature. A conventional workup and bulb to bulb distillation of the crude material afforded **184** (1.56 g, 55%): bp 50-70 ^oC/ 1.5 mmHg. The above compound was spectroscopically identical to literature⁹⁰.

Procedure D: Standard Acetylation & Complexation

Hexacarbonyl [µ-n⁴-(6-acetoxynona-1,8- dien-4-yne)] dicobalt (185)



Compound **184** was subjected to standard acetylation conditions. Alcohol **184** (1.55 g. 8.7 mmol) was dissolved in acetic anhydride (5 mL) and pyridine (1mL) at 0 ^oC, the reaction was allowed to warm to room temperature and was left to stir for overnight. A solution of 3M HCl acid (10 mL) was added to the reaction mixture and after conventional workup and removal of the excess acetic anhydride through high vaccum, the crude material was complexed via procedure A. Flash chromatography using 50:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether gave (3.71g, 91%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2925, 2093, 2052, 2022, 1744, 1229; ¹H-NMR: 6.13 (dd 7.5 Hz, 6.0 Hz 1H), 5.93 (m 1H), 5.84 (m 1H), 5.20 (m 4H), 3.53 (d 7.1 Hz 2H), 2.59 (apparent triplet 6.6 Hz 2H), 2.10 (s 3H);

¹³C-NMR: 199.4, 170.2, 135.5, 132.9, 118.5, 117.6, 96.5, 95.0, 73.2, 41.3, 38.1, 20.6; MS m/e; HRMS m/e for $C_{15}H_{14}Co_2O_6$ calculated (M⁺-2CO) 407.9454, found 407.9455.

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η ⁴ –(6-acetoxycyclohept-1en-4-yne)]dicobalt (187)

Čo₂(CO)₆

Complex **187** was prepared according to Green's method⁸⁰. The above compound was spectroscopically identical to literature (82% yield).

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 – (3-acetoxycycloheptyne)] dicobalt (188)

Ċo₂(CO)₆

Complex **186** (394 mg, 0.85 mmol) was dissolved in dichloromethane (43 mL) at room temperature. A solution of (Cy₃P)₂Cl₂Ru=CHPh (70 mg, 10 mol%) in dichloromethane (10mL) was added dropwise. The reaction progress was

monitored by TLC and upon completion of the reaction, the solution was filtered through a pad of Celite[®] and concentrated. Thoroughly washed Raney nickel[®] catalyst (200 mg) and 95% ethanol (200 mL) were added to the flask. The solution was purged with hydrogen gas and the heterogeneous mixture was left to stir for 3 hours under hydrogen atmosphere. The reaction progress was monitored by TLC (petroleum ether:diethyl ether 10:1). After completion of the reaction, the solution was filtered and the solvent was concentrated under reduced pressure. (Caution must be exercised in handling Raney Nickel catalyst as it is pyrophoric when dry). Flash chromatography (petroleum ether: diethyl ether 50:1) gave complex **188** (298.1 mg, 80% overall yield): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2933, 2859, 2093, 2049, 2020, 1742; ¹H-NMR: 5.93 (dd 10.7 Hz, 4.5 Hz 1H), 3.18 (d 16.4 Hz 1H), 2.77 (m 1H), 2.15 (m 1H), 2.08 (s 3H), 2.03 (m 2H), 1.66 (m 2H), 1.56 (m 1H), 1.47 (m 1H); ¹³C-NMR: 199.5, 170.4, 98.0, 97.6, 75.8, 35.6, 35.1, 29.2, 25.6, 20.7; Ms m/e 438 (M⁺), 410 (M⁺-CO), 382 (M⁺-2CO), 354 (M⁺-3CO), 326 (M⁺-4CO), 298 (M⁺-5CO), 270 (M⁺-6CO); HRMS m/e for C₁₅H₁₂Co₂O₈ calculated (M⁺) 437.9196, found 437.91907.

Procedure E: Nicholas Reactions on Cycloheptyne Complexes

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 – (6-allyloxycyclohept-1-en-4-yne)] dicobalt (189)

Čo₂(CO)

Complex **187** (59 mg, 0.13 mmol) and propargyl alcohol (87 μ L, 10 equiv) were dissolved in dry dichloromethane (6.5 mL) at room temperature. BF₃.OEt₂ (92 mg, 5 equiv) in dry dichloromethane (2 mL) was added slowly over 0.5 h and the reaction was followed by TLC. Upon completion, conventional workup followed by flash chromatography afforded complex **222** (40.1 mg, 73%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2932, 2090, 2047, 2020 cm⁻¹; ¹ H NMR 5.98 (m, 1H), 5.34 (dd, J = 17.1, 1.5, 1H), 5.21 (dd, J = 10.4, 1.5, 1H), 4.48 (dd, J = 10.4, 4.2, 1H), 4.35 (dd, J = 12.5, 5.1, 1H), 4.19 (dd, J = 12.5, 5.7, 1H), 3.19 (apparent dt, J = 16.7, 3.4, 1H), 2.76 (m, 1H), 2.19 (m, 1H), 2.05 (m, 1H), 1.97 (m, 1H), 1.48-1.65 (m, 2H), 1.39 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR 203.9, 138.7, 121.0, 103.6, 102.5, 84.4, 74.2, 40.9, 39.4, 33.1, 29.7 ; MS m/e 380 (M⁺-2CO); HRMS m/e for C₁₆H₁₄Co₂O₇ calculated. (M⁺-2CO) 379.9500, found 379.9466.

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 – (6-Allylsulfanylcyclohept-1-en-4-yne)] dicobalt (190)

Ċo₂(CO)₆

Complex **187** (78.5 mg, 0.18 mmol), allyl mercaptan (150 µL, 10 equiv) and BF₃.OEt₂ (128 mg, 5 equiv) in dry dichloromethane (2 mL) were mixed via procedure D. A conventional workup followed by flash chromatography afforded complex **190** (61 mg, 75%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2924, 2091, 2052, 2021; ¹ H NMR 5.92 (m, 3H), 5.19 (d 17.5 Hz, 1H), 5.15 (d 10.1 1H), 4.04 (dd 10.4 Hz, 2.9 Hz 1H), 3.68 (s 2H), 3.33 (m 2H), 2.62 (m 1H), 2.36 (m 1H); ¹³C NMR 199.7, 134.5, 130.9, 129.8, 117.1, 102.1, 94.4, 46.9, 35.4, 34.7, 33.4 ; MS m/e 450 (M⁺), 422 (M⁺-CO), 394 (M⁺-2CO), 366 (M⁺-3CO), 338 (M⁺-4CO), 310 (M⁺-5CO); HRMS m/e for C₁₆H₁₂Co₂O₆S

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η ⁴ - 3-allyloxy-cyclohept-1-yne] (Co-Co) (191)

Čoっ(CO)。

Complex **188** (75 mg, 0.17 mmol) was condensed with allyl alcohol (115 μL, 10 equiv) via procedure D. A conventional workup followed by flash chromatography

afforded complex **191** (62 mg, 84%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2931, 2857, 2091, 2047, 2020, 1092; ¹H NMR: 5.98 (m 1H), 5.34 (dd 15.0 Hz, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 5.21 (dd 10 Hz, 1.2 Hz 1H), 4.48 (dd 10.3 Hz, 4.3 Hz, 1H), 4.34 (dd 12.6 Hz, 5.3 Hz 1H), 4.19 (dd 12.6 Hz, 6.0 Hz 1H), 3.19 (dt 16.3 Hz, 3.3 Hz, 1H), 2.77 (ddd 16.3 Hz, 12.0 Hz, 4.3 Hz, 1H), 2.19 (ddd 13.2 Hz, 7.9 Hz, 4.3 Hz, 1H), 2.05 (q 7.3 Hz, 1H), 1.96 (m 1H), 1.6 (m 2H), 1.38 (m 1H); ¹³C-NMR: 203.9, 138.7, 121.0, 103.6, 102.5, 84.4, 74.2, 40.9, 39.4, 33.1, 29.7 ; MS m/e 436 (M⁺), 406, 380 (M⁺-2CO), 352 (M⁺-3CO), 324 (M⁺-4CO), 296 (M⁺-5CO), 268 (M⁺-6CO) MS m/e 380 (M⁺-2CO); HRMS m/e for $C_{16}H_{14}Co_2O_7$ calculated. (M⁺-2CO) 379.9500, found 379.9466.

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 – (3-allylsulfanyl-cycloheptyne)] dicobalt (192)

o₂(CO)₆

Complex **188** (111.4 mg, 0.25 mmol) and allyl mercaptan (210 μ L, 10 equiv) were mixed via procedure D. A conventional workup followed by flash chromatography afforded complex **190** (94.9 mg, 84%): IR (cm⁻¹) 2927, 2089, 2049, 2020 cm⁻¹; H NMR 5.88 (m, 1H), 5.15 (d 17.7 Hz 1H), 5.12 (d 12.0 Hz 1H), 3.89 (dd 14.2Hz, 4.2 Hz 1H), 3.29 (d 7.5 Hz 2H), 3.12 (dt, 16.3 Hz, 3.6 Hz 1H), 2.82 (m 1H), 2.27 (m 1H), 2.11 (m 1H), 1.95 (m 1H),1.68 (m 1H), 1.59 (m 1H), 1.45 (m 1H); ¹³C-NMR: 200.0, 134.7, 116.9, 102.0, 99.9. **48**.5, 38.0, 35.5, 35.0, 29.8, 28.8; MS m/e,

424 (M⁺-CO), 396 (M⁺-2CO); HRMS m/e for C₁₆H₁₄Co₂O₆S calculated. (M⁺-2CO) 395.9271, found 395.9295.

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 – (3-but-3-enyloxycyclohept-1-yne)] dicobalt 193

o_(CO)

Complex **188** (115.9mg, 0.26 mmol) was condensed with homoallyl alcohol (224 μ L, 10 equiv) via procedure D. A conventional workup followed by flash chromatography afforded complex **191** (109.1 mg, 92%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2930, 2856, 2091, 2050, 2020, 1099; ¹ H-NMR: 5.86 (m 1H), 5.11 (dd 17.1 Hz 1H), 5.04 (d 10.1 Hz 1H), 4.42 (dd 10.2 Hz, 4.2 Hz 1H), 3.87 (m 1H), 3.64 (m 1H), 3,18 (d 16.3 Hz 1H), 2.77 (m 1H), 2.41 (m 2H), 2.17 (m 1H), 2.04 (m 1H), 1.95 (m 1H), 1.62 (m 2H), 1.40 (m 1H); ¹ C-NMR: 200.2, 135.1, 116.4, 99.9, 98.3, 81.5, 69.0, 36.7, 35.4, 34.4, 29.2, 25.7; Ms m/e 394 (M⁺-3CO), 366 (M⁺-4CO), 310 (M⁺-5CO), 282 (M⁺-6CO), HRMS m/e for C₁₇H₁₆Co₂O₇ calculated (M⁺) 449.9555 found 449.9572.

114

Hexacarbonyl [μ -n⁴ -{3-(2-methylallyloxy)cycloheptyne}] dicobalt 194

Ċo。(CO)。

Complex **188** (140 mg, 0.32 mmol) was condensed with 2-methyl-2propenol (275 μ L, 10 equiv) via procedure D. A conventional workup followed by flash chromatography afforded complex **194** (121.2 mg, 84%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2931, 2090, 2052, 2021; ¹H-NMR 5.03 (s, 1H), 4.93 (s, 1H), 4.46 (dd, 10.5 Hz, 4.5 Hz 1H), 4.21 (1/2 ABq, 12.5 Hz, 1H), 4.13 (1/2 ABq, 12.5 Hz, 1H), 3.19 (dt, 16.5 Hz, 3.4 Hz 1H), 2.76 (m 1H), 2.20 (m 1H), 2.05 (m 1H), 1.97 (m 1H), 1.80 (s 3H), 1.49-1.65 (m 2H), 1.38 (m 1H); ¹³C-NMR 200.2, 142.3, 112.2, 99.7, 98.4, 80.1, 73.0, 36.7, 35.4, 29.2, 25.7, 19.5; MS m/e 394 (M⁺-2CO); HRMS m/e for C₁₇H₁₆Co₂O₇ calculated. (M⁺) 449.9555, found 449.9515.

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 -(N-cyclohept-2-ynylacetamide)] dicobalt (195)

C o₂(CO)

115

Complex **188** (303.5 mg, 0.69 mmol) was dissolved in acetonitrile (35 mL) at room temperature in an open flask. Concentrated sulfuric acid (3 drops) was added to the solution and the mixture was left to stir for 5 minutes. After conventional workup followed by flash chromatography afforded complex, **195** (273.7 mg, 91%) was obtained: IR (cm ⁻¹) 3326, 2929, 2856, 2087, 2016, 1649; ¹H-NMR 5.51 (d 6.6 Hz 1H), 5.11 (m 1H), 3.17 (d 16.1 Hz 1H), 2.77 (m 1H), 2.33 (m 1H), 2.09 (m 2H), 2.02 (s 3H), 1.48 (m 3H); ¹³C-NMR: 199.1, 169.3, 101.5, 98.8, 53.5, 37.2, 35.1, 29.5, 27.4, 23.0; MS m/e 381 (M⁺-2CO), 353 (M⁺-3CO), 325 (M⁺-4CO), 297 (M⁺-5CO), 269 (M⁺-6CO); HRMS m/e for $C_{12}H_{13}Co_2NO_4$ calculated. (M⁺-3CO) 352.9509 found 352.9536.

Hexacarbonyl[μ-η⁴-(N-allyl-N-cyclohept-2-ynyl- methylbenzenesulfonamide] dicobalt (199)

 $(CO)_{a}(OO)$

A solution of HBF₄ (174 μ L, 2 equiv) in dry diethyl ether (2 mL) was slowly added to a stirred solution of complex **186** (117.9 mg, 0.27 mmol) and dimethyl

sulfide (20 µL, 5 equiv) in dry diethyl ether (5 mL) at room temperature. The solution was left to stir until the precipitation of the red sulfonium complex 197 was complete (1h) or the TLC of the solution showed that the absence of the starting material. After completion of the reaction, the supernatant ether solution was discarded through a syringe and the red solids were washed with dry ether (5X10 mL). The red solids were dried under high vaccum for 1h and then dissolved in dry dichloromethane (13.5 mL) and stirred at room temperature. Allylamine (21 µL, 1equiv) and diisopropylethyl amine (99 µL, 2 equiv) in dry dichloromethane (5 mL) was slowly added to the sulfonium solution. The reaction was followed by TLC and after the completion of the reaction and conventional workup, p-toluenesulfonic anhydride (441 mg, 5 equiv) in dry CH₂Cl₂ (5 mL) was added to the crude material. The sulfonamide formation reaction was followed by TLC. Upon completion of the reaction, a conventional workup and flash chromatography (20:1 petroleum ether : diethyl ether) gave complex 199 (98 mg, 62% yield): IR (cm⁻¹) 3082, 2928, 2093, 2051, 2025 cm⁻¹; 1H NMR δ 7.72 (d, J = 8.3, 2H), 7.28 (d, J = 8.3, 2H), 5.76 (m, 1H), 5.20 (dd, J = 17.2, 1.3, 1H), 5.07 (dd, J = 10.2, 1.3, 1H), 4.96 (dd, J = 11.7, 3.2, 1H), 4.14-4.26 (m, 2H), 3.23 (br d, J = 13.5, 1H), 2.73 (m, 1H), 2.43 (s, 3H), 2.11 (m, 1H), 1.92-2.04 (m, 2H), 1.73 (m, 1H), 1.35-1.60 (m, 2H); ¹³C-NMR: 200.0, 143.1, 138.6, 135.9, 129.6, 127.3, 117.3, 102.2, 96.9, 63.5, 46.2, 37.0, 35.6, 29.0, 21.5; MS m/e , 533 (M-2CO⁺), 505 (M-3CO⁺), 421 (M-6CO⁺); HRMS m/e for $C_{23}H_{21}Co_2NO_8S$ calculated (M-3CO⁺) 504.9804, found 504.9828.

117

Procedure F: Typical Sugihara Conditions for the PKR

2a,5,6,7,8,8a-Hexahydro-2H,3H-1-oxa-cyclohepta[cd]azulen-4-one (200)



A solution of **191** (41.5 mg, 0.10 mmol) and cyclohexylamine (40 μ L, 3.5 equiv) in 1,2-dichloroethane (5 mL) was heated to reflux for 20 minutes. The solution was cooled to room temperature, diethyl ether (20 mL) was added, and the crude mixture was filtered through a pad of silica gel. Preparative TLC (4:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether) of the crude material afforded **200** (10.6 mg, 63% yield 84:16 *cis:trans*): IR (cm⁻¹) 2927, 1714, 1680; ¹H-NMR 4.74 (dd, 10.9 Hz, 5.7 Hz 1H), 4.27 (apparent t, 7.7 Hz, 1H), 3.36 (dd, 11.3 Hz, 7.7 Hz 1H), 3.27 (m 1H), 2.64 (dd, 17.7 Hz, 6.3 Hz 1H), 2.58 (m 1H), 2.21 (m 1H), 2.14 (dd 17.6 Hz, 3.1 Hz 1H), 2.09 (m 1H), 1.99 (m 1H), 1.93 (m 1H), 1.56 (m 1H), 1.30-1.49 (m 2H); resonances for the minor diastereomer were observed at 4.35 (obscured m 1H), 4.32 (apparent t 7.8 Hz 1H), 3.35 (dd 11.4 Hz, 8.3 Hz 1H), 2.26 (dd 16.6 Hz, 4.7 Hz 1H), 2.55 (obscured m 1H); ¹³C NMR 208.4, 186.0, 137.7, 79.6, 71.9, 44.8, 41.0, 34.0, 27.6, 26.5, 23.5; resonances for the minor diastereomer were observed at 206.8, 182.2, 135.4, 77.1,

71.4, 43.6, 39.0, 29.5, 27.5, 24.6, 23.4 MS m/e 178 (M⁺), 150 (M⁺-CO) ; HRMS m/e for C₁₁H₁₄O₂ calculated. (M⁺-CO) 150.1045, found 150.1038.

2a,5,8,8a-Tetrahydro-2H,3H-1-oxa-cyclohepta[cd]azulen-4-one (202)



A solution of **189** (85mg, 0.20 mmol) and cyclohexylamine (80 μ L, 3.5 equiv) in 1,2-dichloroethane (10 mL) was reacted according to procedure F. Preparative TLC (4:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether) of the crude material afforded **202** (: IR (cm⁻¹) 3079, 2957, 1737, 1715 cm⁻¹; ¹ H NMR 5.84 (m, 1H), 5.80 (m, 1H), 4.69 (br d, J = 10.9, 1H), 4.28 (apparent t, J = 7.1, 1H), 3.31 (m, 1H), 3.29 (d, J = 7.1, 1H), 2.95-3.08 (m, 2H), 2.63-2.71 (m, 2H), 2.23 (m, 1H), 2.16 (dd, J = 18.5, 2.7, 1H); resonances for the minor diastereomer were observed at 4.72 (apparent t, J = 6.0, 1H), 4.38 (apparent t, J = 7.4, 1H), 3.46 (dd, J = 10.9, 8.7, 1H), 2.11 (J = 18.0, 2.7, 1H); ¹³C NMR 208.1 179.9, 128.7, 125.3, 72.9, 70.5, 43.2, 38.8, 33.3, 29.7, 25.1; MS m/e 176 (M⁺); HRMS m/e for C₁₁H₁₂O₂ calculated. (M⁺) 176.0837, found 176.0842.

2a,5,8,8a-Tetrahydro-2H,3H-1-thia-cyclohept[cd]azulen-4-one (203)



A solution of **190** (47 mg, 0.10 mmol) and cyclohexylamine (40 µL, 3.5 equiv) in 1,2-dichloroethane (5 mL) was reacted according to procedure F. Preparative TLC (4:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether) of the crude material afforded **203** (11 mg, 57% yield, 79:21 *cis:trans*): IR (cm ⁻¹) 3012, 2922, 1709, 1678; ¹ H-NMR 5.59, (ddd 12.4 Hz, 7.2 Hz, 2.1 Hz 1H), 5.61 (m 1H), 4.48 (br d, 12.0 Hz 1H), 3.37 (m 1H), 3.13 (dd 10.9 Hz, 6.7 Hz 1H), 3.07 (m 1H), 2.95 (m 1H), 2.73 (1/2 ABq, 6.3 Hz 1H), 2.70 (1/2 ABq, 6.3 Hz 1H), 2.57 (m 1H), 2.43 (m 1H), 2.22 (dd, 17.1 Hz, 4.1 Hz 1H); resonances for the minor diastereomer were observed at 4.20 (br d 4.2 Hz, 1H), 2.66 (d 6.5 Hz 1H), 2.18 (obscured dd 1H); ¹³C-NMR 207.0, 183.4, 135.2, 126.6, 126.1, 47.9, 44.9, 42.6, 37.1, 32.3, 23.8; resonances for the minor diastereomer were observed at 129.2, 47.0, 43.2, 40.3; MS m/e 192 (M⁺); HRMS m/e for C₁₁H₁₂O. S calculated. (M⁺) 192.0603, found 192.0580.

2a,5,6,7,8,8a-Hexahydro-2H,3H-1-thia-cyclohept[cd]azulen-4-one (204)



120

A solution of **192** (73.0 mg, 0.16mmol) and cyclohexylamine (64 μ L, 3.5 equiv) in 1,2-dichloroethane (8 mL) was reacted according to procedure F. Preparative TLC (4:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether) of the crude material afforded **204** (20.2 mg, 65% yield, 67:33 *cis:trans*): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2928, 1703, 1665 cm⁻¹; ¹ H-NMR 4.14 (br d 11.6 Hz 1H), 3.31 (m 1H), 3.04 (dd 10.6 Hz, 6.7 Hz 1H), 2.69 (dd 17.0 Hz, 6.0 Hz 1H), 2.65 (m 1H), 2.60 (apparent t 11.3 Hz 1H), 2.18 (dd 16.8 Hz, 4.3 Hz 1H), 2.04 (m 1H), 1.85-1.97 (m 2H), 1.53 (m 2H), 1.47 (m 1H), 1.14 (m 1H); resonances for the minor diastereomer were observed at 4.19 (br d 11.3 Hz 1H), 2.65 (dd 18.5 Hz, 6.2 Hz 1H), 2.58 (m 1H), 2.23 (m 1H), 1.41 (m 1H); ¹³C-NMR 207.4, 184.9, 139.0, 48.5, 42.6, 36.1, 31.2, 30.9, 27.0, 23.0; resonances for the minor diastereomer were observed at 208.1, 181.0, 139.5, 48.2, 46.8, 41.2, 37.4, 35.3, 28.5, 23.5 MS m/e 194 (M⁺); HRMS m/e for C₁₁H₁₄OS calculated. (M+Na⁺) 217.0658, found 217.0650.

2a,3,4,5a,6,7,8,9-Octahydro-2H-5-oxa-benzo[cd]azulen-1-one (205)

A solution of **193** (74 mg, 0.16mmol) and cyclohexylamine (64 μ L, 3.5 equiv) in 1,2-dichloroethane (8 mL) was refluxed as procedure F. Preparative TLC (4:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether) of the crude material afforded **205** (22.8 mg, 73% yield, 60:40 *cis:trans*): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2928, 1702, 1648 cm⁻¹; ¹ H-NMR 4.23 (dd 9.9 Hz,

4.2 Hz 1H), 4.06 (m 1H), 3.66 (apparent dt 2.1 Hz, 11.9 Hz 1H), 2.77 (m 1H), 2.62 (dd 18.7 Hz, 6.3 Hz 1H), 2.26-2.28 (2H), 1.97-2.15 (m 3H), 1.81-1.91 (m 2H), 1.28-1.75 (m 4H); resonances for the minor diastereomer were observed at 4.26 (br d obscured 1H), 4.09 (m 1H), 3.74 (ddd 11.4 Hz, 9.3 Hz, 4.6 Hz 1H), 3.01 (m 1H), 2.70 (m 1H), 2.67 (dd 18.2 Hz, 6.3 Hz 1H), 2.70 (m 1H), 1.41 (m 1H), 1.14 (m 1H); 13 C-NMR 207.5, 170.4, 139.2, 78.6, 66.8, 41.0, 37.8, 34.0, 32.2, 25.9, 22.3, 21.3; resonances for the minor diastereomer were observed at 206.5, 179.3, 137.5, 63.6, 41.1, 32.3, 31.9, 28.2, 27.5, 26.6; MS m/e 192 (M⁺); HRMS m/e for C₁₂H₁₆O₂ calculated. (M+Na⁺) 215.1048, found 215.1050.

3-Hydroxymethyl-3-methyl-3,4,5,6,7,8-hexahydro-2H-azulen-1-one (206)



A solution of **194** (91.6 mg, 0.20 mmol) and cyclohexylamine (80 μ L, 3.5 equiv) in 1,2-dichloroethane (10 mL) was reacted according to procedure F. Preparative TLC (4:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether) of the crude material afforded **206** (5.4 mg, 14% yield): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2924, 1683, 1636 cm⁻¹; ¹ H NMR 3.60 (1/2 ABq 10.9 Hz 1H), 3.53 (1/2 ABq10.9 Hz 1H), 2.56 (d 18.1 Hz 1H), 2.42 (m 1H), 2.33 (m 1H), 2.14 (d 18.1 Hz 1H), 1.78-1.87 (m 2H), 1.49-1.72 (m 4H), 1.48-1.57 (m 2H), 1.15 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR 206.8, 179.2, 143.9, 67.3, 46.6, 45.5, 31.7, 28.0, 26.4, 23.1,

21.1 ; MS m/e 194 (M⁺); HRMS m/e for C₁₂H₁₈O₂ calculated. (M⁺) 194.1301, found 194.1295.

2a-Methyl-2a,5,6,7,8,8a-hexahydro-2H,3H-1-oxa-cyclohepta[cd]azulen-4-one (207)

A solution of **194** (89.3 mg, 0.20 mmol) in dichloromethane (10 mL) was stirred at 0 $^{\circ}$ C. TMANO (132 mg, 10 equiv) was added portionwise over an hour and the solution was then allowed to warm to room temperature for 1 hour. The crude mixture was filtered through a pad of silica gel and concentrated under reduced pressure. Preparative TLC (4:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether) of the crude material afforded **207** (22.5 mg, 59% yield) 65% based on the recovered starting material **194** (7.2 mg): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2928, 1713, 1677; ¹ H NMR 4.79 (ddd, 10.9 Hz, 5.7 Hz, 1.6 Hz 1H), 3.93 (d 8.0 Hz 1H), 3.54 (d 8.0 Hz 1H), 2.55 (apparent dt 16.1 Hz, 4.2 Hz 1H), 2.39 (1/2 ABq 17.1 Hz 1H), 2.35 (1/2 ABq 17.1 Hz 1H), 2.05 (m 1H), 1.98 (m 1H), 1.90 (m 1H), 1.55 (m 1H), 1.40 (m 1H), 1.33 (m, 1H), 1.31 (s 3H); ¹³C-NMR 208.1, 185.7, 136.2, 76.1, 48.6, 47.4, 33.8, 27.5, 24.9, 24.5, 23.4; MS m/e 192 (M⁺); HRMS m/e for C₁₂H₁₆O₂ calculated. (M⁺) 192.1150, found 192.1143.

<u>1-(Toluene-4-sulfonyl)-1-2a,3,5,6,7,8,8a-octahydro-2H-azuleno[8,1-bc]pyrrol-4-</u> one (208)

A solution of **199** (45.4 mg, 0.08 mmol) and n-butyl methyl sulfide (35 μ L, 3.5 equiv) in 1,2-dichloroethane (4 mL) was reacted according to procedure F. Preparative TLC (4:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether) of the crude material afforded **208** (14 mg, 55% yield, 55:45 *cis:trans*): IR (cm⁻¹) 2923, 1714, 1680 cm⁻¹, ¹ H-NMR 7.78 (d 8.2 Hz 2H) and 7.72 (d 8.2 Hz 2H), 7.34 (d 8.2 Hz 2H) and 7.38 (d 8.2 Hz 2H), 4.46 (ddd 10.9 Hz, 5.4 Hz, 1.5 1H), 4.00 (dd 12.0 Hz, 7.8 Hz 1H), 3.96 (apparent t 7.8 Hz 1H), 3.57 (br d 9.8 Hz 1H), 3.12 (m 1H), 2.94 (apparent t 11.5 Hz 1H), 2.73 (m 1H), 2.62 (dd 16.9 Hz, 6.0 Hz 1H), 2.50-2.54 (m 3H), 2.43 (s 3H) and 2.45 (s 3H), 2.39-2.50 (m 3H), 2.18 (m 1H), 1.96-2.10 (m 4H), 1.79-1.93 (m 2H), 1.43-1.64 (m 4H), 1.24-1.39 (m 2H), 1.13 (m 1H); ¹³C-NMR 207.2, 205.4, 180.9, 178.5, 144.3, 143.8, 139.2, 137.7, 136.0, 130.0, 129.9, 128.0, 127.1, 131.7, 62.6, 61.4, 54.2, 52.7, 41.6, 40.9, 40.4, 39.3, 35.7, 30.9, 30.3, 28.1, 27.1, 27.0, 25.9, 23.5, 22.8, 21.6; MS m/e 331 (M⁺); HRMS m/e for C₁₈H₂₁NO₃S calculated. (M⁺) 331.1242, found 331.1237.
4.0 Intramolecular 2+2+2 Reactions

4.1 2+2+2 Cycloaddition Reactions on Cycloheptyne-Co₂(CO)₆

A wide variety of natural products possessing 7,6 fused ring systems are found in nature, particularly in the terpene classes of compounds. Some examples of classes of compounds are shown in (Fig. 71). Alkyne dicobalt complexes are known to participate in 2+2+2 cycloaddition reactions in the presence of other alkynes to form six-membered ring systems (see 1.4). Therefore, having developed synthetic methods to prepare cycloheptyne-Co₂(CO)₆ complexes, a 2+2+2 ring fusion reaction would provide a valuable addition to the synthesis of these ring systems.



Figure 71. Examples of Fused 7,6 ring Systems Found in Nature

An approach analogous to that of the Pauson-Khand chemistry was adopted. Cycloheptyne complexes bearing a propargylic acetate were chosen to be substituted by Nicholas reactions with propargylic alcohols. The resulting ethers, now containing a tethered divide bearing one $Co_2(CO)_6$ moiety, would be subjected to a reaction with a third alkyne in order to study the feasibility of the 2+2+2 process. In addition to **187** and **188**, two other propargyl actetates were employed as starting points. Deprotonation of allyl propargyl ether with two equivalents of butyllithium, followed by addition of acrolein in diethyl ether and furnished **213** in 68% yield after conventional workup (Fig. 72). Acetylation and complexation of diols **213** provided diacetate complexes **214** in excellent yields (85% and 87%, respectively). Ring closing metathesis, followed by immediate hydrogenation of the crude material in the presence of Raney Nickel[®] catalyst provided a separable 1:1 mixture of *cis* and *trans* diastereoisomers of **215** in 82% overall yield. The stereochemical assignments were based on ¹H-NMR coupling constants (10.4 Hz and 4.5 Hz) for the *cis* isomer and (7.1 Hz and 3.7 Hz) for the *trans* isomer of the propargylic protons in each complex.



Figure 72. Preparation of Diacetate Complexes 215

Deprotonation of 1-hexyne with two equivalents of butyllithium, followed by sequential addition of one equivalent of allyl bromide and one equivalent of acrolein and hydrolysis of the mixture afforded alcohol **216** in 64% yield (Fig. 73). Standard acetylation (**217**, 80% yield) and complexation of acetate **217** gave complex **218** (89% yield). Ring closing metathesis of diene complexes **218** using Grubbs' first generation catalyst gave cycloheptenyne cis/trans complexes **219** in 80% yields (50:50 ratio) (Fig. 73). Reduction of this mixture with a large excess of diimide gave *cis/trans* complexes **220** (72%, 50:50 ratio). It seems that cycloheptenyne-Co₂CO)₆ complexes bearing homoallylic acetates are easily hydrogenated using Raney Nickel[®] catalysis, while cycloheptenyne–Co₂ (CO)₆ complexes bearing an allylic acetate but no homoallyl acetate, do not reduce with Raney Nickel. Allylic acetate complexes, however, are reduced by the diimide reduction method.

Although complexes **220** could be separated by chromatography, the *trans*-**220** has a very similar R_f by TLC to the unreduced cycloheptenyne *cis*-**220**. Therefore only the cis-**220** was isolated and fully characterized and used in this study. It is also possible to enrich the *cis* isomer of **220** with respect to the *trans* isomer. When a 50:50 mixture of **220** and a large excess of acetic acid (>10 equiv) were dissolved in dry dichloromethane and treated with BF₃ etherate (3 equiv) for 4 hours, the diastereoisomeric ratio of the product obtained was 9:91 in favor of the *cis* isomer.

128







Figure 74. Synthesis of Dicobalt Hexacarbonyl Complexes 220

129

4.2 Nicholas Chemistry on Cycloheptenyne/Cycloheptyne Cobalt Complex

The reactions for formation of the tethered divnes complexes were straightforward Lewis acid mediated Nicholas reactions which were analogous to the formation of the tethered envne complexes. A solution of BF₃.OEt₂ in dichloromethane was slowly added to a cooled mixture of the dicobalt complex and propargyl alcohol to give, after conventional workup, the Nicholas condensation products in high yields. Under these conditions, **187** and **188** gave compounds **221** and **222** in 73% and 85% yields respectively, Similarly, 2-butyn-1-ol afforded **223** (76% yield) from **188** (Fig. 75).

Diacetates *cis*-**215** and *trans*-**215** readily underwent substitution to give diastereomeric mixtures of **224** in 84% and 88% yields, respectively (Fig. 76). Disubstituted cycloheptyne complex *cis*-**220** also underwent analogous Nicholas reactions with propargyl alcohol to afford mixtures of **225** in 75% yield. Contrary, to the majority of Nicholas reactions⁸⁸ were complete racemization occurs at the propargylic site, products **224** and **225** reflect partial retention of configuration of the starting acetate complexes **215** and *cis*-**220**.

130





Figure 75. Tethering of Alkynes on Cycloheptenyne and Cycloheptyne Dicobalt Complexes



Figure 76. Nicholas Reaction on Disubstituted Cycloheptenyne Complexes

¹H-NMR spectroscopy of the Nicholas adducts confirmed the equatorial disposition of the tethered alkynes in most cases. The configurational assignments of **224** were made on the basis of the coupling constants of the methine hydrogens. For the *cis*-**224** J_{ax-ax} of 9.8 Hz and J_{ax-eq} of 4.6 Hz indicated axial methine hydrogens. By contrast, *trans*-**224** had J= 6.6 Hz and 3.8 Hz for the corresponding

methine hydrogens. The *cis* isomer of **225** (J_{ax-ax} 10.6 Hz, J_{ax-eq} 4.6 Hz), was assigned analogously.

4.3 2 2+2+2 Cycloadditions of Tethered Alkyne dicobalt complexes

With access to several tethered divne-Co2(CO)6 complexes secured, our attention was turned to the 2+2+2 cycloaddition reactions. The divne complexes were exposed to a series of alkynes (5 equiv) at reflux in toluene over three hours and the resulting crude material was filtered through a pad of silica gel to furnish tricyclic products. Bis(trimethylsilyl)acetylene performed well as the third alkyne partner by virtue of giving cleaner reaction mixtures, even when the ultimate product vields were not higher for substrates 221 and 222, giving arenes 226 and 230 in 60% and 63% yields, respectively (Fig. 77 & 78). The 2+2+2 cycloaddition reactions of complex divide 222 with symmetrical 2-butyne-1,4-diacetate gave 58% of arene 227. While unsymmetrically substituted 1-octyne and ethyl 2-butynoate as the third alkyne partner for substrate 222 afforded regioisomeric mixtures of arenes 228a and 228b (50:50) and 229a/229b (43:57) in 59% yield, there was little or no regioselectivity in the process. Arene 228a and 228b can be easily distinguished by the doublets for the aromatic protons in 228a (J=7.5 Hz) versus the singlets for 228b. The regiochemical assignment of the major arene product in 229a was based on the lower chemical shift of the aromatic proton (7.46 ppm) for 229a, due to its close proximity to the ester function, relative to isomer 229b (6.94 ppm).

133



Figure 77. 2+2+2 Cycloaddition Reactions on Cycloheptenyne Complex 222

When diyne complex **223** was refluxed with propargyl alcohol, arenes **231a** and **231b** (70% yield) were formed in a 75:25 regioisomeric mixture respectively. The regiochemical assignment of **231** was based on 2D ¹H-¹H NOESY experiments, which displayed an nOe coupling of the aromatic proton (Fig. 78) to both the methylene protons of the benzyl alcohol and the methyl protons in the major isomer. Conversely, nOe coupling of the methylene protons of the benzyl alcohol to the methyl protons was observed in the minor product, thus indicating that **231a** is the major product. However, when diyne *cis*-**225** was refluxed in the presence of 5 equivalents of propargyl alcohol in toluene, a more modest regioisomeric mixture (43:57) of benzocycloheptane *cis*-**232a** and *cis*-**232b** in 52% yield was obtained (Fig. 78).



Figure 78. Formation of Benzocycloheptanes

The capability of an all intramolecular 2+2+2 variant was also investigated. As discussed previously, both diyne complexes *cis*-224 and *trans*-224 were available in diastereomerically pure form. When subjected to the standard refluxing toluene conditions, *trans*-224 underwent 2+2+2 cycloaddition reaction to give *trans*-233, while *cis*-224 gave *cis*-233, in 60% yield in both cases.



cis-224

cis-233

Figure 79. All intramolecular and N-Linked Diyne 2+2+2 Cycloadditions

Preliminary attempts were made to probe the possibility of alkene participation in the 2+2+2 cycloaddition reaction. When diyne complex **222** and 5 equivalents of cyclohexene in toluene were heated to reflux for 3 hours, only intractable mixtures resulted. When 5 equivalents bis(trimethylsilyl)acetylene and enyne complex **191** were refluxed in toluene, the presence of the PKR product **200** was observed from ¹H-NMR spectrum of the crude mixtures. There was, however, no indication of 2+2+2 cycloaddition product.



Figure 80. Attempt on Alkene Participation in 2+2+2 Cycloaddition Reaction

4.4 Summary

Cyloheptyne complexes **215** and **220** were prepared by ring closing metathesis, followed by reduction using Raney Nickel[®] or diimide. Theses complexes along with **187** & **188** react with propargylic alcohols to provide tethered diyne complexes **222**, **223**, and *cis*-**225** and tethered triyne complexes *cis*-**224**, *trans*-**224** in excellent yields. The latter complexes could be separated by chromatography.

These cycloheptyne- $Co_2(CO)_6$ complexes, in the presence of a third alkyne did undergo 2+2+2 cycloaddition reactions, giving fused 7,6,5 ring systems, with respectable yield. Complexes *trans-224* & *cis-224* did undergo all-intramolecular 2+2+2 cycloaddition reaction.

138

4.5 Experimental Section

Nona-1,8-dien-4-yne-3,6-diol (213)



A stirred solution of allyl propargyl ether (3.00 g, 31.3 mmol) in dry diethyl ether (50 mL) was cooled to -78 ^oC. Butyllithium (35 mL, 2.2 equiv.) was added dropwise and the solution was allowed to warm to room temperature and left to stir overnight. The reddish solution was cooled to -78 ^oC, acrolein (2.3 mL, 1.0 equiv.) in dry diethyl ether (5 mL) was added dropwise to the solution and then allowed to warm to room temperature. Conventional workup and bulb to bulb distillation of the crude material afforded **213** (3.57 g, 75% yield): bp 110-120 ^oC/ 0.75 torr; IR (cm ⁻¹) 3332, 3082, 2982, 2859, 1034; ¹H-NMR: 5.91 (m 2H), 5.45 (d 17.0 Hz, 1H), 5.22 (m 3H), 4.93 (m 1H), 4.48 (t 5.9 Hz, 1H), 3.05 (br 1H), 2.95 (br 1H), 2.48 (t 6.6 Hz, 2H); ¹³C-NMR: 136.6, 132.9, 118.9, 116.6, 86.6, 84.0, 62.9, 61.5, 41.9; MS m/e

Hexacarbonyl [µ-ŋ⁴ -(3,6-diacetoxynona-1,8-dien-4-yne)] dicobalt (214)



Compound **213** (411 mg, 2.70 mmol) was subjected to the standard acetylation and complexation via procedure D. Flash chromatography (20:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether) gave a 50:50 mixture of diasteroisomers (1.21g, 86%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2935, 2096, 2029, 1745, 1227; ¹H-NMR: 6.46 (d 6.5 Hz, 1H), 6.40 (6.5 Hz, 1H), 6.01 (m 2H), 5.95 (m 2H), 5.82 (m 2H), 5.43 (dd 18,3 Hz, 1.0 Hz 2H), 5.29 (dd 10.3 Hz, 0.8 Hz 2 H), 5.18 (m 4H), 2.60 (m 1H), 2.53 (m 3H), 2.12 (s 3H), 2.10 (s 3H), 2.08 (s 6H); ¹³C-NMR: 198.9, 170.1, 170.1, 169.6, 169.6, 135.3, 135.1, 133.0, 132.7, 118.8, 118.4, 117.7, 94.2, 93.4, 74.3, 74.0, 72.9, 72.7, 41.5, 41.4, 20.6, 20.6, 20.5, 20.5; MS m/e; HRMS m/e for $C_{17}H_{16}Co_2O_8$ ([M⁺-2CO]) calculated 465.9509, found 465.9508

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 –(3,7-diacetoxycycloheptyne)] dicobalt (215)

Čo₂(CO)。

140

Compound 214 (cis:trans mixture, 183.7 mg, 0.35 mmol) was dissolved in dichloromethane (17.5 mL) at room temperature. (Cy₃P)₂Cl₂Ru=CHPh (14.5 mg, 5 mol%) in dichloromethane (10mL) was added dropwise to the dichloromethane solution. After 3 hours, the solution was filtered through a pad of Celite® and the solution was concentrated under reduced pressure. The residue was dissolved in dry dichloromethane (17.5 mL) and additional (Cy₃P)₂Cl₂Ru=CHPh (14.5 mg, 5 mol%) as solution in dichloromethane (10 mL) was added dropwise. The solution was then left to stir for another 3 hours. The solution was again filtered through a nad of Celite[®] and concentrated in vacuo. The reaction progress was monitored by TLC. The crude material was dissolved in ethanol 95% (200 mL) and the flask was purged with hydrogen gas. A thoroughly washed Raney nickel catalyst (100 mg) was added and the heterogeneous mixture was stirred for 4 hours. After completion of the reaction, the solution was filtered and the solvent was concentrated under reduced pressure. Flash chromatography (petroleum ether: diethyl ether 50:1) as cis:trans 215 (1:1) mixtures (142.4 mg, 82% overall yield). Careful repeated chromatography allowed separation of the isomers: (*cis* isomer) IR: (cm⁻¹) 2926, 2851, 2097, 2057, 2028, 1741; ¹H-NMR: 5.98 (dd 10.4 Hz, 4.5 Hz 2H), 2.14 (m 2H), 2.12 (s 6H), 2.11 (m 2H), 1.57 (m 2H); ¹³C-NMR: 198.0, 170.4, 94.5, 75.7, 34.6, 22.3. 20.7: MS m/e 468, 440, 412, 384, 356, 328; (trans isomer) IR: 2932, 2861, 2098, 2056, 2029, 1739, 1231; ¹H NMR: 6.04 (dd 7.1 Hz, 3.7 Hz 2H), 2.11 (s 6H), 1.99 (m 2H), 1.94 (m 2H), 1.85 (m 2H); ¹³C-NMR: 199.0, 170.0, 93.9, 73.3, 34.2, 20.8, 19.4; MS m/e 468 (M⁺-CO), 440 (M⁺-2CO), 412(M⁺-3CO), 384 (M⁺-4CO), 356 (M⁺-5CO), 328 (M⁺-6CO).

141

6-Propylnona-1,8-dien-4-yn-3-ol (216)

OH

Butyllithium (10 mL, 2 equiv) was slowly added to a solution of 1-hexyne (1.027 g 12.5 mmol) in dry diethyl ether (36 mL) cooled to -78 $^{\circ}$ C. The solution was then allowed to warm to room temperature and was left to stir overnight. The solution was then cooled to -78 $^{\circ}$ C and allyl bromide (1.1 mL, 1 equiv) in dry diethyl ether (5 mL) was slowly added via syringe pump. After completion of addition the solution was kept below -40 $^{\circ}$ C for 4 hrs, acrolein (0.9 mL, 1 equiv) in dry diethyl ether (5 mL) was added; the solution was then allowed to warm to room temperature. After conventional workup, the pale yellow residue was distilled by bulb to bulb distillation under vacuum to afford a clear oil (1.314 mg, 64%): b.p. 130-150 $^{\circ}$ C; IR (cm $^{-1}$) 3312, 3078, 2959, 2933, 2873, 1642, 1022; ¹H-NMR: 5.94 (m 1H), 5.85 (m 1H), 5.44 (d 17.0 Hz 1H), 5.18 (d 10.0 Hz 1H), 5.07 (d 17.6 Hz 1H), 5.04 (d 9.3 Hz, 1H), 4.87 (s 1H), 2.46 (m 1H), 2.22 (t 6.9 Hz 2H), 2.11 (d 4.6 Hz 1H), 1.51 (m 1H), 1.42 (m 3H), 0.91 (t 7.1 Hz 3H); ¹³C-NMR: 137.6, 136.0, 116.5, 115.9, 89.8, 80.4, 63.2, 39.2, 36.4, 31.3, 20.4, 13.8.

142

2-Acetoxynona-1,8-dien-6-propyl-4-yn (216a)



Compound **216** (1.06 g, 6.4 mmol) was subjected to the standard acetylation condition and flash chromatography (50:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether) gave (1.13 g, 80%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 3079, 2959, 2933, 2874, 1747, 1643, 1229; ¹H-NMR: 5.89 (m 3H), 5.55 (d 15.5 Hz 1H), 5.29 (d 9.6 Hz 1H), 5.08 (d 16.2 Hz 1H), 5.06 (d 9.4 Hz, 1H), 2.48 9 (m 1H), 2.35 (t 6.9 Hz, 2H), 2.10 (s 3H), 1.52 (m 1H), 1.43 (m 3H), 0.92 (t 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C-NMR: 169.7, 135.8, 135.6, 118.5, 116.6, 90.8 (two), 64.8, 39.1, 36.3, 31.4, 21.1, 20.4, 13.9; MS m/e 220 (M⁺) HRMS m/e for $C_{11}H_{15}O_2$ calculated (M⁺-CH₂CHCH₂) 178.1072, found 179.1110.

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 -(3-acetoxy-6-propyl-1,8- nonadien- -4-yn)] dicobalt (217)



143

Compound **216a** (308.3 mg. 1.4 mmol) was complexed via procedure A. Flash chromatography using 50:1 petroleum ether:diethyl ether gave (630 mg, 89%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 3082, 2963, 2935, 2878, 2091, 2022, 1747, 1641, 1226; ¹H-NMR: 6.53 (t 5.6 Hz 1H), 5.88 (m 2H), 5.43 (dd 17.2 Hz, 3.4 Hz 1H), 5.28 (d 10.4 Hz 1H), 5.15 (m 2H), 2.77 (m 1H), 2.31 (m 2H), 2.14 (s 3H), 1.50 (m 4 H),0.95 (7.2 Hz 3H); ¹³C-NMR: 199.6, 169.8, 136.5, 136.4, 135.2, 135.1, 117.4, 117.3, 117.0, 104.3, 95.9, 74.9, 74.7, 41.6, 41.5, 41.4, 41.4, 39.3, 39.0, 21.2, 20.7, 20.6, 14.0; MS m/e 422 (M⁺-3CO), HRMS m/e for C₁₇H₂₀Co₂O₅ calculated (M⁺-3CO) 421.9975, found 421.9970.

Hexacarbonyl [μ -n⁴–(6-acetoxy-3-propyl-cyclohept-1-en-3-yne] dicobalt (218)



Complexes **218a** and **218b** were prepared in 80% yield according to Green's method.⁷⁸

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 -(3-acetoxy-7-propylcycloheptyne] dicobalt (*cis*-220)

144



Complexes **218** (94 mg, 0.20 mmol) and freshly made dipotassium azodicarboxylate (136 mg, 3.5 equiv) were dissolved in methanol (20 mL) at room temperature. Excess amount of acetic acid dissolved in methanol was added portion-wise to the dicobalt hexacarbonyl complex solution. The reaction was monitored by TLC and upon completion of the reaction, the solvent was evaporated and a conventional workup followed by flash chromatography afforded a 56:44 mixture of *trans:cis* **220** (68.3 mg 72%). Careful repeated chromatography allowed the isolation of pure *cis*-**220**: IR (cm ⁻¹) 2932, 2852, 2092, 2049, 2023, 1742, 1231; ¹H-NMR: 5.94 (dd 11.0 Hz, 4.7 Hz 1H), 2.64 (m 1H), 2.16 (m 1H), 2.10 (s 3H), 2.00 (m 3H), 1.58-1.40 (m 6H), 0.98 (t 7.2 Hz 3H); ¹³C-NMR: 200.3, 170.6, 103.3, 97.7, 76.1, 43.6, 40.0, 35.3, 35.2, 29.7, 25.1, 20.6, 14.1; MS m/e 424 (M⁺-2CO), 396 (M⁺-3CO), 368 (M⁺-4CO), 340 (M⁺-5CO), 312 (M⁺-6CO); HRMS m/e for C₁₆H₁₈Co₂O₆ calculated. (M⁺-2CO) 423.9767, found 423.9753.

Hexacarbonyl [µ-ŋ⁴ –(6-prop-2-ynyloxy)cyclohepten-4-yne] dicobalt (221)



Complex **187** (59 mg, 0.13 mmol) and propargyl alcohol (76 μ L, 10 equiv) were dissolved in dry dichloromethane (4 mL) at room temperature. BF₃.OEt₂ (92 mg, 5 equiv) in dry dichloromethane (2 mL) was added slowly over 0.5 h and the reaction was followed by TLC. A conventional workup and flash chromatography (50:1 petroleum ether: diethyl ether) afforded complex **221** (40.1 mg, 73%): IR (cm⁻¹) 3309, 3024, 2929, 2861, 2089, 2051, 2019, 1082; ¹H NMR: 5.90 (m 2H), 4.84 (dd 10.7 Hz, 3.5 Hz 1H), 4.45 (m 2H), 3.69 (m 2H), 2.59 (m 1H), 2.46 (t 2.4 Hz 1H), 2.28 (m 1H); ¹³C-NMR: 199.5, 130.1, 127.1, 97.5, 79.5, 77.5, 74.5, 56.1, 34.4, 33.7; MS m/e 432 (M⁺-CO), 404 (M⁺-1CO), 376 (M⁺-2CO), 348 (M⁺-3CO), 320 (M⁺-4CO), 292 (M⁺-5CO), 264 (M⁺-6CO) ; HRMS m/e for C₁₄H₁₀Co₂O₅ (M⁺-2CO) calculated 375.9192 found 375.9194.

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 –(3-prop-2-ynyloxycycloheptyne)] dicobalt (222)

Ċo₂(CO)₅

146

Complex **188** (38.6 mg, 0.09 mmol), propargyl alcohol (53 µL, 10 equiv) and BF. ₃.OEt₂ (64 mg, 5 equiv) were reacted according to procedure E. A conventional workup followed by flash chromatography (50:1 petroleum ether: diethyl ether) afforded complex **222** (32.5 mg, 85%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 3312, 2927, 2855, 2091, 2051, 2020, 1090; ¹H NMR: 4.76 (dd 10.4 Hz, 4.3 Hz 1H), 4.45 (d½ABq, 15.9 Hz, 2.4 Hz, 1H), 4.42 (d½ABq, 15.9Hz, 2.4 Hz, 1H), 3.21 (dt 16.3 Hz, 1.9 Hz 1H), 2.27 (m 1H), 2.44 (t 2.4 Hz 1H), 2.20 (m 1H), 2.05 (m 1H), 1.98 (m 1H), 1.60 (m 2H), 1.40 (m 1H); ¹³C-NMR: 199.6, 98.7, 98.0, 79.7, 79.4, 74.4, 56.0, 36.7, 35.4, 29.1, 25.7; MS m/e 434 (M⁺-CO), 406 (M⁺-1CO), 378 (M⁺-2CO), 350 (M⁺-3CO), 322 (M⁺-4CO), 294 (M⁺-5CO), 266 (M⁺-6CO) ; HRMS m/e for C₁₄H₁₂Co₂O₅ (M⁺-2CO) calculated 377.9349 found 377.9349.

Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 –(3-but-2-ynyloxy-cycloheptyne)] dicobalt (223)

Ċo₂(CO)₆

Complex **188** (96 mg, 0.22 mmol), but-2-yn-1-ol (168 μ L, 10 equiv) and BF₃.OEt₂ (156 mg, 5 equiv) was combined according to procedure E. A conventional workup followed by flash chromatography (50:1 petroleum ether: diethyl ether) afforded complex **223** (74.6 mg, 85%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 2928, 2855, 2091, 2048, 2017, 1070; ¹H-

NMR: 4.75 (dd 10.4 Hz, 4.2 Hz 1H), 4.40 (½ABq 15.5 Hz 1H), 4.37 (½ABq 15.5 Hz 1H), 2.76 (m 1H), 2.18 (m 1H), 2.05 (m 1H), 1.98 (m 1H), 1.86 (t 2.3 Hz 3H), 1.59 (m 2H), 1.42 (m 1H); ¹³C-NMR: 199.6, 98.8, 98.5, 82.6, 79.1, 75.0, 56.6, 36.8, 35.5, 29.1, 3.5; Ms m/e 448 (M⁺), 420 (M⁺-1CO), 392 (M⁺-2CO), 364 (M⁺-3CO), 336 (M⁺-4CO), 308 (M⁺-5CO), 280 (M⁺-6CO) ; HRMS m/e for $C_{17}H_{14}Co_2O_7$ (M⁺) calculated 447.9403, found 447.9403.

<u>trans-Hexacarbonyl [μ-η⁴-(3,7-bis(prop-2-ynyloxy)cycloheptyne)]</u> dicobalt



Diacetate complex *trans*-**215** (63 mg, 0.12 mmol), propargyl alcohol (70 μ L, 10 equiv) and BF₃.OEt₂ (85 mg, 5 equiv) were reacted according to procedure E. A conventional workup followed by flash chromatography (50:1 petroleum ether: diethyl ether) afforded a mixture complexes **226** (*trans:cis* 62:38) in 82% yield. Careful repeated chromatography resulted in isolation of *trans* isomer. *trans*-**226**: IR (cm ⁻¹) 3311, 2926, 2856, 2054, 2023, 1446, 1072; ¹H-NMR: 4..81 (dd 6.6 Hz, 3.8 Hz)

2H), 4.40 (dd 15.9 Hz, 2.3 Hz 2H), 4.34 (dd 15.9 Hz, 2.3 Hz 2H), 2.44 (t 2.3 Hz 2H), 1.91 (m 4H), 1.82 (m 2H); ¹C-NMR: 199.5, 95.9, 79.7, 74.7, 56.4, 34.5, 18.8.

cis-Hexacarbonyl [μ-η⁴-(3,7-bis(prop-2-ynyloxy)cyclohept-1-yne)] dicobalt (224)

Co2(CO)

Complex *cis*-**215** (83 mg, 0.16 mmol), propargyl alcohol (94 µL, 10 equiv) and BF₃.OEt₂ (114 mg, 5 equiv) were reacted according to procedure E. A conventional workup followed by flash chromatography (50:1 petroleum ether: diethyl ether) afforded complexes **226** as a mixture of *trans:cis* (20:80) isomers (63.4 mg, 88%). Careful repeated chromatography resulted in isolation of *cis* isomer. *cis*-**226**: IR 3310, 2929, 2855, 2095, 2053, 1079; ¹H-NMR: 4..68 (dd 9.8 Hz, 4.6 Hz 2H), 4.48 (dd 16.0 Hz, 2.4 Hz 2H), 4.41 (dd 16.0 Hz, 2.4 Hz 2H), 2.46 (t 2.4 Hz 2H), 2.20 (m 4H), 1.44 (m 2H); ¹C-NMR: 199.5, 96.1, 79.8, 79.6, 74.6, 56.1, 35.2, 22.3; MS m/e 488 (M⁺), HRMS m/e for C₁₄H₁₄Co₂O₃ (M⁺-5CO) calculated 347.9601 found 347.9581.

149

<u>cis-Hexacarbonyl [μ - η^4 -{(3-prop-2-ynyloxy)-7-propylcycloheptyne] dicobalt</u> (225)



Complex *cis*-**220** (132.5 mg, 0.28 mmol), propargyl alcohol (166 μ L, 10 equiv) and BF₃.OEt₂ (199 mg, 5 equiv) were reacted according to procedure E. A conventional workup followed by flash chromatography (50:1 petroleum ether: diethyl ether) afforded complex **227** (98.1 mg, 75%) as a mixture of 69:31 (*cis:trans*) isomer. Careful repeated chromatography resulted in isolation of pure *cis* isomer. *cis*-**227**: IR 2963, 2932, 2875, 2087, 2049, 2016; ¹H NMR: 4.73 (dd 10.6 Hz, 4.5 Hz 1H), 4.68 (dd 15.9 Hz, 2.4 Hz 1H), 4.41 (dd 15.9 Hz, 2.4 Hz 1H), 2.60 (m 1H), 2.45 (t 2.4 Hz 1H), 2.23 (m 1H), 2.05 (m 2H), 1.73 (m 1H), 1.53 (m 1H), 1.45 (m 5H), 0.98 (t 7.1 Hz 3H); ¹³C-NMR: 199.9, 104.5, 98.3, 79.9, 79.7, 74.5, 56.2, 43.9, 39.8, 36.2, 34.7, 25.2, 20.5, 14.1; Ms m/e 476 (M⁺), 420 (M⁺-2CO), 392 (M⁺-3CO), 364 (M⁺-4CO), 336 (M⁺-5CO), 308 (M⁺-6CO).

150

Procedure G: Typical 2+2+2 Cycloaddition Reactions

4,5-[Bis-(trimethylsilanyl)-2,6,9,9a-tetrahydro-1-oxa-benzo[cd]azulene] (226)



Complex 222 (89.6 mg, 0.20 mmol) and bis(trimethylsily)acetylene (34 mg, 5 equiv) were dissolved in toluene (10 mL) and stirred under N₂; the mixture was then heated at reflux for 3 h. The resulting solution was cooled to room temperature, diluted with Et₂O (20 mL) and then filtered through a pad of silica gel. Evaporation of the solvent under reduced pressure and preparative TLC (4 :1 petroleum ether : Et. $_{2}$ O) furnished 228 (37.9 mg, 60%) as viscous oil: IR (cm ⁻¹) 3016, 1595 cm⁻¹; ¹H-NMR 7.44 (s, 1H), 5.77 (m, 1H), 5.71 (m, 1H), 5.60 (m, 1H), 5.23 (d ½ABq, 2.8, 12.3, 1H), 5.15 (½ABq, 12.3, 1H), 3.61 (apparent t of ½ABq, J = 3.3, 17.0, 1H), 3.48 (d of ½ABq, J = 8.3, 17.0, 1H), 2.73 (m, 1H), 2.35 (m, 1H), 0.44 (s, 9H), 0.38 (s, 9H); ¹³C 147.3, 143.2, 142.9, 142.1, 137.4, 126.4, 126.1, 125.7, 82.2, 73.4, 35.6, 33.6, 4.0, 3.1; MS (EI) m/e 316; HRMS m/e for C₁₈H₂₈OSi₂ calculated 316.1679, found 316.1674.

151

4,5-Diacetoxy-2,6,9,9a-tetrahydro-1-oxa-benzo[cd]azulen-4-yl ester (227)



Complex **222** (63.4 mg, 0.15 mmol) and 2-butyne-1,4-diacetate (128mg, 5 equiv.) were refluxed in toluene (7.5 mL) according to procedure G. After preparative TLC (4 :1 petroleum ether : Et₂O) furnished **229** (24.5 mg, 58%) as a yellowish oil: IR (cm⁻¹) 3019, 2925, 1739; ¹H-NMR: 7.16 (s 1H), 5.71 (m 1H), 5.64 (m 1H), 5.61 (br d 10.9 Hz 1H), 5.24 (s 4H), 5.22 (d of ½ABq 2.7 Hz, 12.6 Hz 1H), 5.11 (½ABq 12.6 Hz 1H), 3.58 (br 2H), 2.71 (m 1H), 2.47 (m 1H), 2.08 (s 3H), 2.06 (s 3H); ¹³C-NMR: 170.6, 170.6, 143.4, 139.1, 135.5, 135.1, 130.4, 125.4, 125.4, 120.8, 82.0, 72.8, 64.7, 59.3, 35.2, 29.2, 20.8, 20.8; MS 256 (M-CH₃CO₂H)⁺; HRMS m/e (C₁₈H₂₀O₅ + Na⁺) calculated 339.1208, found 339.1207.

5-Hexyl-2,6,7,8,9,9a-hexahydro-1-oxabenzo[cd]azulene and 4- Hexyl-2,6,7,8,9,9a-hexahydro-1-oxabenzo[cd]azulene(228a /228b)



Complex **222** (66.3 mg, 0.15 mmol) and 1-octyne (111 μ L, 5 equiv) were refluxed in toluene (7.5 mL) according to procedure G. After preparative TLC (4 :1 petroleum ether : Et₂O) furnished **230a:230b** (50:50) (22.6 mg, 59%) as a viscous oil: IR (cm ⁻¹); ¹H NMR 7.07 (d 7.5 Hz 1H), 6.99 (d 7.5 Hz 1H), 6.89 (s 1H), 6.84 (s 1H), 5.72 (m 2H), 5.65 (m 2H), 5.58 (d 10.7 Hz 1H) and 5.51 (d 9.8 Hz 1H), 5.18 (d of ½ABq 2.7 Hz, 12.0 Hz 1H), 5.16 (d½ABq 2.8 Hz, 12.0 Hz 1H), 5.10 (½ABq, 12.0 Hz 1H), 5.08 (½ABq 12.0 Hz 1H), 3.67 (br d 19.6 Hz 1H), 3.51 (m 2H), 3.31 (dd 6.0 Hz, 19.6 Hz 1H), 2.71 (m 2H), 2.61 (m 4H), 2.41 (m 2H), 1.65 (m 2H), 1.50 (m 2H), 1.10-1.40 (m 12H), 0.91 (t 7.0 Hz, 3H) and 0.90 (t 7.1 Hz 3H) ; ¹³C-NMR: 142.8, 142.6, 139.2, 138.8, 138.5, 135.7, 133.2, 131.8, 129.1, 127.3, 126.5, 126.1, 125.4, 124.5, 118.5, 118.4, 82.1, 81.9, 73.1, 73.0, 35.8, 35.7, 34.1, 33.0,

31.8, 31.7, 31.3, 29.3, 29.1, 22.6, 14.1; MS m/e 256 (M⁺); HRMS m/e calculated for C₁₈H₂₄O 256.1827, found 256.1826.

<u>4-Methyl-2,6,9,9a-tetrahydrobenzo[cd]azulene-5carboxylic acid ethyl ester and</u> <u>5-Methyl-2,6,9,9a-tetrahydrobenzo[cd]azulene-4-carboxylic acid ethyl ester</u> (229a/229b)



Complex **222** (80.5 mg, 0.19 mmol) and ethyl 2-butynoate (114 μ L, 5 equiv) were refluxed in toluene (9,5 mL) according to procedure G. Preparative TLC (4 :1 petroleum ether : Et₂O) furnished **231a/231b** (57:43) (27,9 mg, 58%) as a pinkish oil: IR (cm ⁻¹) 3019, 2980, 1722; ¹H-NMR: Major isomer 7.46 (s 1H), 5.72 (m 1H), 5.67 (m 1H), 5.51(d 10.0 Hz 1H), 5.17 (1/2 ABq 12.0 Hz 1H), 5.08 (1/2 ABq 12.0 Hz 1H), 4.37 (q 7.4 Hz 2H), 3.59 (d of ½ ABq 4.8 Hz, 19.6 Hz 1H), 3.48 (1/2 ABq 19.6 Hz 1H), 2.69 (m 1H), 2.47 (s 3H), 2.38 (m 1H), 1.39 (t 7.4 Hz 3H); Minor isomer 6.94 (s 1H), 5.65 (m 2H), 5.50 (obscured m 1H) 5.15 (d of ½ ABq 2.8 Hz, 12.6 Hz 1H), 5.07 (1/2 ABq 12.6 Hz 1H), 4.41 (q 7.2 Hz 2H), 3.65 (d of ½ ABq 4.4 Hz, 19.0 Hz 1H),

3.29 (dd of $\frac{1}{2}$ ABq 1.7 Hz, 6.0 Hz, 19.0 Hz 1H), 2.70 (m 1H), 2.38 (m 1H), 2.33 (s 3H), 1.40 (t 7.2 Hz 3H); ¹³C-NMR: Major isomer 168.9, 145.4, 135.5, 134.7, 133.4, 131.8, 126.1, 125.1, 120.0, 82.1, 72.5, 61.0, 35.2, 30.0, 16.2, 14.3; minor isomer 168.9, 140.0, 139.5, 134.6, 132.3, 130.5, 125.6, 125.0, 120.4, 82.0, 72.9, 61.2, 35.4, 30.9, 19.7, 14.3 (obscured); HRMS m/e for C₁₆H₁₈O₃ calculated 258.1256, found 258.1262.

4,5-[Bis-(trimethylsilanyl)-2,6,7,8,9,9a-hexahydro-1-oxa-benzo[cd]azulene] 230



Complex **223** (65.0 mg, 0.150 mmol) and bis(trimethylsilyl)acetylene (170 mL, 0.75 mmol) in toluene (6 mL) were refluxed according to procedure G. Preparative TLC (4 :1 petroleum ether : Et₂O) furnished **230** (75:25) (30.2 mg, 63%) as a viscous oil: IR (cm ⁻¹) 3054, 2927, 1450; ¹H- NMR 7.40 (s 1H), 5.21 (obscured m 1H), 5.19 ($\frac{1}{2}$ ABq J = 11.9 Hz 1H) , 5.08 ($\frac{1}{2}$ ABq 11.9 Hz 1H), 3.27 (dd 5.7Hz, 14.7 Hz 1H), 2.55 (dd 11.7Hz, 14.7 Hz 1H), 2.20 (d 11.5 Hz 1H), 2.04 (m 2H), 2.20-2.90 (m 3H) , 0.41 (s 9H), 0.38 (s 9H) ¹³C-NMR: 147.0, 144.6, 143.5, 143.3, 138.3, 126.0, 86.5,

73.2, 36.5, 35.5, 28.2, 27.9, 4.2, 3.3; MS (EI) 318 (M)⁺; HRMS m/e for C₁₈H₃₀OSi₂ calculated 318.1835, found 318.1853.

(3-Methyl-2,6,7,8,9,9a-Hexahydro-1-oxa-benzo[cd]azulen-5yl)-methanol and (3-Methyl-2,6,7,8,9,9a-Hexahydro-1-oxa-benzo[cd]azulen-4-yl)-methanol 232a/232b



Complex **225** (60 mg, 0.13) and propargyl alcohol (39 µL, 5 equiv.) were refluxed in toluene (6.5 mL) according to procedure F. After preparative TLC (2 :1 petroleum ether : Et_2O) furnished **232a:232b** (20.5mg, 70%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 3379, 3034; ¹H-NMR 7.01 (s 1H), 5.24 (d 9.1 Hz 1H), 5.18 (d of ½ABq 2.7 Hz, 12.3 Hz 1H) 5.02 (½ABq 12.3 Hz 1H), 4.69 (br 2H), 3.19 (dd 6.4 Hz, 15.1 Hz 1H), 2.43 (dd 11.9 Hz, 15.1 Hz 1H), 2.21 (s 3H), 1.95-2.10 (m 2H), 1.45-1.75 (m 3H), 1.20-1.40 (m 2H);

absorptions for the minor regioisomer were observed at 7.03 (s 1H), 5.19 (obscured 1H), 5.03 (obscured 1H), 2.79 (d of ½ABq 5.2 Hz, 15.7 Hz 1H), 2.69 (d of ½ABq 11.7 Hz, 15.7 Hz 1H) 13 C-NMR: 143.5, 137.7, 136.8, 133.4, 129.3, 127.9, 86.57, 72.5, 63.5, 35.7, 30.5, 27.9, 27.8, 18.2; absorptions for the minor regioisomer were observed at 141.7, 138.8, 134.6, 128.5, 127.0, 86.65, 72.8, 63.2, 35.9, 35.8, 28.4, 27.7, 14.6; MS (EI) m/e: 218 (M⁺); HRMS m/e for C₁₄H₁₈O₂ calculated 218.1307, found 218.1305.

(trans)-5,6a,7,8,9,9a-Hexahydro-2H-1,6-dioxa-cyclohepta[jkl]-as-indacene 233



Complex *trans*-**220** (36.4 mg, 0.08 mmol) was refluxed in toluene (4 mL) according to procedure G. Preparative TLC (4 :1 petroleum ether : Et₂O) furnished *trans*-**235** (9.7 mg, 60%): IR (cm ⁻¹) 3038, 2928; ¹H-NMR: 7.12 (s 2H), 5.09 (d of ½ABq 1.9 Hz, 12.2 Hz 2H), 5.02 (½ABq 12.2 Hz 2H), 4.94 (d 12.2 Hz 2H), 2.34 (m 2H), 1.99 (m 2H), 1.83 (m 2H); ¹³C-NMR: 139.1, 137.1, 119.6, 79.5, 72.9, 31.0, 20.7; MS (EI) 202 (M^+); HRMS m/e calculated for C₁₃H₁₄O₂ 202.0994, found 202.0995.

(cis)-5,6a,7,8,9,9a-Hexahydro-2H-1,6-dioxa-cyclohepta[jkl]-as-indacene 233

Complex *cis*-**220** (110.4 mg, 0.25 mmol) was refluxed in toluene (12.5 mL) according to procedure G. Preparative TLC (4 :1 petroleum ether : Et₂O) furnished *cis*-**235** (30.1 mg, 60%) as a viscous oil: IR (cm ⁻¹) 3379, 3034; ¹H-NMR: 7.11 (s 2H), 5.13 (br m 6H), 2.30 (m 2H), 2.07 (m 1H), 1.72 (dt 14.2 Hz, 13.0 Hz, 1H), 1.48 (apparent dt 12.1 Hz, 11.8 Hz 2H); ¹³C-NMR: 138.2, 136.5, 119.9, 84.2, 73.4, 35.6, 21.2. MS (EI) 202 (M⁺); HRMS m/e calculated for $C_{13}H_{14}O_2$ 202.0994, found 202.0992.

Future Work

Tricyclics that possess the fused 7,5,5 framework in such compounds as 200 are rare in nature.⁸⁹ Therefore, it is advantageous to reduce the tricyclic compound to a fused bicyclic 7,5 ring system. For that reason, sulfur and oxygen tethered alkenes complexes such as **189**, **190**, **191**, **192**, **193**, and **194** are useful substrates to form the desired bicyclic systems. By changing the Pauson-Khand reaction conditions, it should be possible to reductively cleave the furan ring as was observed in **201** and **206** [Fig. 66 and Fig. 68]. It also should be possible to reduce tricyclics **203** and **204** by Raney nickel[®] hydrogenation, to bicyclic **235**, analogous to Pericãs's work^{53b}. Since most classes of compounds shown in Fig. 55 contain a methyl (e.g. Guaianes and Aromadendranes) or an isopropyl substituent (e.g. Daucanes and Isodaucanes) on the five membered ring, the thioether as a tether to prepare these natural products would be a valuable tool.



Figure 81. Desulfuration of Complexes 203 and 204

A traceless silvl tether route to Pauson-Khand reactions would be of value. It should be facile to synthesize complex **238** (similar to complex **214**), by ring closing metathesis and careful hydrolysis should afford complex **239**. Tethering the vinyl silane to the cycloheptyne ring is likely to afford complex **240**, which can be used as the so called traceless method to prepare 7,5 fused compounds **241**.⁵³ The latter compound could be used as a model to study the general functionalization of the 7,5 fused ring system. For example, DIBAL reduction of **241** and oxidation should furnish α , β unsaturated compound **242** which could undergo Diels-Alder reaction to provide fused 7,6,5 ring systems (i.e. **243**) found in the Dolastane and Guanacastepene frameworks.






Figure 82. Use of Traceless Tether to Prepare 241

Analogously, complex **214** is known to isomerize under acid conditions⁹⁰ to complex **244**. DIBAL reduction and MnO₂ oxidation of this compound is also known to afford complex **245**.⁹¹ Complex **245** may tested for participation in Diels-Alder reactions, to provide **246**. Tethering vinyl silanes as silyl ether, followed by Pauson-Khand reaction should provide **247**. The latter compounds posses Sphaeroane, Rhamnofolane, Daphnane and Tigliane type fused 7,6,5 ring systems.





Figure 83. Possible Diels-Alder Adducts of 242 and 245

References

- (a) Blomquist, A. T.; Liu L. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1953, 75, 2153 (b)
 Wittig, G.; Krebs, A. Chem.Ber. 1961, 94, 3260.
- (a) Hoffmann, R. W. Dehydrobenzene and Cycloalkynes; Academic Press: New York, 1967. (b) Krebs, A.; Wilke, J. Top. Curr. Chem. 1983 109, 189. (c) Hopf, H. Classics in Hydrocarbon Chemistry; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2000. (d) Sanders, W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1994, 33, 1455. (e Fujita, M.; Sakanishi, Y.; Kim, W. H.; Okuyama, T. Chem. Lett. 2002, 908.
- 3. Melikyan, G. G.; Nicholas K. M. In *Modern Acetylene Chemistry*; Stang, P. J., Diederich, F., Eds.; VCH: Weiheim, 1995, Ch. 4.
- 4. a) Caffyn, A. J. M.; Nicholas, K. M. in *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry II.*, Abel, E. W.; Stone, F. G.; Wilkinson, G. Ed., Hegdus, L. S., Vol. Ed., Pergamon, Oxford, **1995**, vol. 12, ch. 7.1. b) Brummond, K. M.; Kent, J. L. *Tetrahedron* **2000**, *56*, 3263. c) Teobald, B. J. *Tetrahedron* **2002**, *58*, 4133.
- 5. Montaña, A. M.; Fernandez, D. *Tetrahedron Lett.***1999**, *40*, 6499.
- a) Nakamura, T.; Matsui, T; Tanino, K.; Kuwajima, I. J. Org. Chem. **1997**, 62, 3032. b) Guo, R.; M. Sc. Thesis, University of Windsor, 1999.
- 7. Nicholas, K. M.; Petit, R. J. Organomet. Chem. 1972, 44, C21.
- 8. Connor R. E.; Nicholas K. M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1977, 125, C45.

- Schreiber, S. L.; Klimas, M. T.; Sammakia, T. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5749.
- 10. Melikyan, G. G.; Bright, S.; Monroe, T.; Hardcastle, K. I.; Ciurash, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 161.
- 11. Green, J. R.; Vizniowski, C.S.; Breen, T. L. J. Org. Chem. **1995**, 60, 7496.
- 12. Green, J. R. in *Curr. Org. Chem.* 2001, 5, 809.
- 13. Kuhn, O., Rau D.; Mayr, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1998**, *120*, 900.
- 14. Mayr, H.; Patz, M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 106, 990.
- Schreiber, S. L.; Sammakia, T. J.; Crowe, W. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
 1986, 108, 3128.
- 16. Tester, R.; Varghese, V.; Montana, A. M.; Nicholas K. M. J. Org. *Chem.* **1990**, *55*, 186.
- 17. Seebach, D.; Golinski, J. Helv. Chim. Acta 1981, 64, 1413.
- 18. Mukai, C.; Yamashita, H.; Ichiryu, T.; Hanaoka M. *Tetrahedron* 2000, *56*, 2203.
- 19. Mann, A.; Muller, C.; Tyrrell, E., *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans.* 1 1998, 1427.
- 20. Krafft, M. E.; Cheung, Y. Y.; Wright, C.; Cali, R. *J. Org. Chem.* **1996**, *61*, 3912.
- 21. Tyrrell, E.; Heshmati, P.; Sarrazin, L. Synlett **1993**, 769.
- 22. Tyrrell, E.; Tillet, C. Tetrahedron Lett. **1998**, *39*, 9535.

- 23. Magnus, P.; Carter, R.; Davies, M.; Elliot, J.; Pitterna, T. *Tetrahedron* **1996**, *52*, 6283.
- 24. Magnus, P.; Miknis, G. F.; Press, H. J.; Grandjean, D.; Taylor, G. M.; Harling, J. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.***1997**, *119*, 6739.
- 25. a) Liu, T. –Z.; Isobe, M. *Tetrahedron* 2000, *56*, 5391. b) Liu, T. –Z.;
 Isobe, M. *Synlett* 2000, 266. c) Kira, K.; Isobe, M., *Synlett* 2000, 5951.
- Wender, P. A.; Love, J. A. In Advances in Cycloaddition; Harmata,
 M., Ed.; JAI Press: Stamford, 1999; Vol. 5, p 1.
- 27. Fort, A. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1962, 84, 4979.
- 28. Harmata, M.; Rashatasakhon, P. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 2371.
- a) Hoffmann, H. M. R., Clemmens, K. E., Smithers, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1972, 94, 3940. b) Montaňa, A. M., Grima, P. M. Tetrahedron Letters 2001, 42, 7809 c) Ashcroft, M. R.; Hoffmann, H. M. R. Org. Synth. 1978, 58, 17. d) Shimizu, N.; Tanaka, M.; Tsuno, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 1330. e) Schmid, R.; Schmid, H. Helv. Chim. Acta 1974, 57, 1883; (f) Oh, J.; Ziani-Cherif, C.; Choi, J. R.; Cha, J. K. Org. Synth. 2000, 78, 212. g) De Kimpe, N.; Palamareva, M.; Verhe, R.; De Buyck, L.; Schamp, N. J. Chem. Res. (S), 1986, 190. h) Hill, A. E.; Hoffmann, H. M. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 4597. Murray, D. H.; Albizati, K. F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 4109. j) Hoffmann, H. M. R. Chem. Ber. 1980, 113, 3837. k) Sakurai, H.; Shirahata, A.; Hosomi, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1979, 18, 163. l) Harmata, M.; Elahmad, S.; Barnes, C. L. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59,

1241. m) Sasaki, T.; Ishibashi, Y.; Ohno, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1982, 23, 1693.; (n) Blackburn, C.; Childs, R. F.; Kennedy, R. A. Can. J. Chem. 1983, 61, 1981. o) Takaya, H.; Makino, S.; Hayakawa, Y.; Noyori, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 1765.

- 30. Hoffman, H. M. R. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1984, 23, 1.
- 31. Shimizu, N.; Tanaka, M.; Tsuno, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 1330.
- 32. Takano, S.; Sugihara T.; Ogasawara, K. Synlett. 1992, 70.
- 33. Patel, M. M.; Green, J. R. Chem. Commun. 1999, 509.
- 34. Jamison, T. F.; Shambayati, S.; Crowe, W. E.; Schreiber, S. L. J. Am. *Chem. Soc.* **1997**, *119*, 5353.
- 35. Lu, Y.; Green, J. R. Synlett **2001**, 245.
- Khand, I. U.; Knox, G. R.; Pauson, P. L.; Watts, W. E.; Foreman, M. I.
 J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1973, 977.
- 37. For reviews on PKR, see: a) Schore, N. E. Org. React. 1991, 40, 1;
 (b) Schore, N. E. in Comprehensive Organic Synthesis. B. M. Trost and I. Fleming, Eds. 1992, Elsevier, vol. 9, p. 1037; (c) Schore, N. E. in Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry II, Ed. Abel E. W., Stone F. G. A. and G. Wilkinson, Eds. Elsevier, 1995, vol. 12, p. 703; (d) Ingate, S.T.; Marco-Contelles, J. Org. Prep. Proced. Int. 1998, 30, 121; (e) Fruhauf, H.-W. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 523; f) Geis, O.; Schmalz, H.-G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 911 g) Fletcher, A. J.; Christie, S. D. R. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1. 2000,1657; h)

Hanson, B. E. Comments Inorg. Chem. 2002, 23, 289. i) Gibson, S. E (nee Thomas); Stevenazzi, A., Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 1800.

- 38. Magnus, P.; Principle, L. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985, 26, 4851.
- 39. Khand, I. U.; Knox, G. R.; Pauson, P. L.; Watts, W. E. J. Chem. Soc. D
 1971, 36.
- 40. Krafft, M. E.; Scott, I. L.; Romero, R. H.; Feibelmann, S.; Van Pelt, C.
 E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 7199.
- Pauson, P. L. in Organometallics in Organic Synthesis. Aspects of a Modern Interdisciplinary Field, de Meijere, F. and Tom Dieck H.
 Springer: Berlin 1998, p.233.
- 42. a) Khand, I. U.; Pauson, P. L. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1974,
 379. b) Khand, I. U.; Pauson, P. L. Heterocycles 1978, 11, 59.
- 43. MacWhorter, S. E.; Sampath, V.; Olmstead, M. M.; Schore, N. E. J. *Org. Chem.* **1988**, *53*, 203.
- 44. Schore, N. E.; La Belle, B. E.; Knudsen, M. J.; Hope, H.; Xu, X. –J. *J. Organomet. Chem.* **1984**, *272*, 435.
- 45. Schore, N. E.; Cruoudace, M. C. J. Org. Chem. 1981, 46, 5436.
- 46. (a) Simonian, S. O.; Smit, W. A.; Gybin, A. S.; Shashkov, A. S.; Mikaelian, G. S.; Tarasoc, V. A.; Ibragimov, I. I.; Caple, R.; Froen, D.
 E. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1986**, *27*, 1245. (b) Smit, W. A.; Simonian, S. O.; Tarasov, V. A.; Mikaelian, G. S.; Gybin, A. S.; Ibagimov, I. I.; Caple, R.; Froen, D.; Kreager, A. *Synthesis* **1989**, 472. (c) Becker, D. P.; Flynn, D. L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, *34*, 2087.

- 47. Chung, Y. K.; Lee, B.Y.; Jeong, N.; Hudecek, M.; Pauson, P.L.; Organometallics **1993**, *12*, 220.
- 48. (a) Shambayati, S.; Crowe, W. E.; Schreiber, S. L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1990**, *31*, 5289. (b) Jeong, N.; Chung, Y. K.; Lee, B. Y.; Lee, S. H.;
 Yoo, S.-E. *Synlett* **1991**, 204.
- 49. (a) Rajesh, T.; Periasamy, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 117. (b)
 Sugihara T., Yamada M., Ban H., Yamaguchi M., Kaneko C., Angew.
 Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 2801.
- 50. Pagenkopf, B. L.; Livinghouse, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2285.
- For Zr see a) Negishi, E.-i.; Holmes, S. J.; Tour, J. M.; Miller, J. A.; Cederbaum, F. E.; Swanson, D. R.; Takahashi, T. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1989**, *11*, 3336. For **Ti** see b) Hicks, F. A; Berk, S. C.; Buchwald, S. L. *J. Org. Chem.* **1996**, *61*, 2713. For carbonyl complexes of **Fe**, **Mo**, **W**, and **Ni** see c) Pearson, A. J; Dubbert, R. A. *Organometallics* **1994**, *13*, 1656, d) Mukai, C.; Uchiyama, M.; Hanaoka M. *J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun.* **1992**, 1014, e). Jeong, N; Lee, S. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, *34*, 4027. For **Ru**, **Rh and Ir** see f) Morimoto, T.; Chatani, N.; Fukumoto, Y; Murai, S. *J. Org. Chem.***1997**, *62*, 3762, g) Kobayashi, T.; Koga, Y.; Narasaka, K. *J. Organomet. Chem.* **2001**, *624*, 73, h) Mukai, C.; Nomura, I.; Yamanishi, K.; Hanaoka, M. *Org. Lett.* **2002**, *4*, 1755; i) Brummond, K. M.; Chen, H.; Fisher, K. D.; Kerekes, A. D.; Rickards, B.; Sill, P. C.; Geib, S. J. *Org. Lett.* **2002**, *4*, 1931.

- 52. Gibson, S. E.; Stevenazzi, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 1800 and references therein.
- a) Koeing, S. G.; Miller, S. M.; Leonard, K. A.; Lowe, R. S.; Chen, B. C.; Austin, D. J. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 2203. b) Castro, J.; Moyano, A.; Pericās, M. A.; Riera, A. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 3346. C) Reichwein, J. F.; Iacono, S. T.; Patel, M. C.; Pagenkopf, B. L. Tetrahedon Lett. 2002, 43, 3739. d) Reichwein, J. F.; Iacono, S. T.; Pagenkopf, B. L. Tetrahedon f, B. L. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 3813.
- a) Nomura, I.; Mukai C. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 4301. b) Thommen M.,
 Keese R., Synlett 1997, 231. c) Takano, S.; Inomata, K.; Ogasawara,
 K. Chem. Lett. 1992, 443.
- 55. Berthelot, M. C. R. Acad. Sci. 1866, 62, 905.
- 56. Reppe W., Schlichting O., Klager K., Toepel T., *Liebigs. Ann. Chem.***1948**, 560.
- 57. For reviews see a) Schore, N. E. In *Comprehensive Organic Synthesis* Trost, B. M., Fleming, I., Paquette, L. A., Eds.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, **1991**; Vol. 5, pp 1129. b) Grotjahn, D. B. In *ComprehensiVe Organometallic Chemistry II*; Abel, E. W., Stone, F. G. A., Wilkinson, G., Hegedus, L., Eds.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, **1995**; Vol.12, pp 741.
 c) Lautens, M.; Klute, W.; Tam, W. *Chem. Rev.* **1996**, *96*, 49. d) Ojima, I.; Tzamarioudaki, M.; Li, Z.; Donovan, R. J. *Chem.Rev.* **1996**, *96*, 635.
 e) Saito, S.; Yamamoto, Y. *Chem. Rev.* **2000**, *100*, 2901. f) Malacria, M.; Aubert, C.; Renaud, J. L. In *Science of Synthesis: Houben-Weyl*

Methods of Molecular Transformations; Lautens, M., Trost, B. M., Eds.; Georg Thieme Verlag: Stuttgart, B; Vol. 1, pp 439. g) Gevorgyan, V.; Radhakrishnan, U.; Takeda, A.; Rubina, M.; Rubin, M.; Yamamoto, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 2835. h) Vollhardt, K. P. C. Angew. Chem. Int. 1984, 23, 539.

- 58. Funk, R. L.; Vollhardt, K. P. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 5483.
- a) Saa' C., Crotts D. D., Hsu G., Vollhardt K. P. C. Synlett 1994, 487.
 b) Eichberg, M. J.; Dorta, R. L.; Lamottke, K.; Vollhardt, K. P. C. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 2479.
- 60. Saito, S.; Yamamoto, Y. Chem. Rev. **2000**, *100*, 2901.
- 61. (a). Son, S. U; Paik, S.-J.; Lee, S. I.; Chung, Y. K. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1. 2000, 141. (b) Mamane, V.; Gref A.; Lefloch, F.; Riant, O. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 637–639, 84. (c) Fletcher, J. T.; Therien, M. J., J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 12393; (d) Giordano, R.; Sappa, E.; Predieri, G. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1995, 228, 139; (e) Son, S. U.; Choi, D. S.; Chung, Y. K; Lee, S.-G. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 2097; (f) Takase, M.; Ismael, R.; Murukami, R.; Ikeda, M.; Kim, D.; Shinmori, H.; Furuta, H.; Osuka, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 5157.
- 62. Gandon, V.; Leca, D.; Aechtner, T.; Vollhardt K. P. C.; Malacria, M.; Aubert, C. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 3405.
- 63. Green, J. R. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1751.

- a) Pereyre, M.; Quintard, J.-P.; Rahm, A. *Tin in Organic Synthesis*,
 Butterworths, London, 1987, pp. 216–218. b) Yanagisawa, A.; Ishiba,
 A.; Nakashima, H.; Yamamoto, H. *Synlett* 1997, 88.
- 65. Green, J. R.; Patel, M. M. Chem. Commun. 1999, 509.
- 66. Patel, M. M.; Msc. Thesis, University of Windsor, 1999.
- 67. Haasnoot, C. A., G; De Leeun, F. A. M; Altona, C. *Tetrahedron* **1980**, **36**, 2783.
- 68. Romelo, G. MSc. Thesis, University of Windsor, 2001.
- 69. Still, W. C.; Kahn, M.; Mitra, A. J. Org. Chem. **1978**, 43, 2923.
- 70. Brandsma, L. Preparative *Acetylenic Chemistry*, 2nd Ed. Elsevier, **1988**, pp 259-260.
- 71. Shergina, S. I.; Sokolov, I. E.; Zanina, A. S.; Kotlyarevskii, I. L. *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim.* **1984**, 3, 689.
- 72. Mavrov, M. V.; Kucherov, V. F. *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim.* **1973**, 6, 1279.
- 73. a) Fraga, B. M. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2001, 18, 650 and refs. therein. b)
 Hanson J. R. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2002, 19, 125.
- 74. a) Snyder, J. K.; Ma, B. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, *46*, 703. b) Kiyosei, T.;
 Satoshi, N.; Ihara, N. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, *46*, 1005.
- 75. Ahmar, M.; Chabanis, O.; Gauthier, J.; Cazes, B. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, 38, 5277.
- 76. Le Strat, F; Maddaluno, J. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 2791.

- 77. Poncini, L. J.Org. Chem. 1984, 49, 2031.
- 78. Green, J. R. Synlett **2001**, 353.
- For ring closing metathesis see: (a) Fu, G. C.; Nguyen, S. T.; Grubbs,
 R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 9856. (b) Miller S. J., Kim S-H.
 Chen Z-R., Grubbs R. H., J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 2108. (c)
 Grubbs R. H., Miller S. J., Fu G. C., Acc. Chem. Res. 1995, 28, 446,
 and references cited therein.
- 80. Guermont, J. P. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1953, 386.
- 81. Viola, A.; MacMillan, J. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1970**, 92, 2404.
- 82. (a) Nakai, T.; Mikami, K. Org. React. 1994, 46, 105. (b) Marshall, J. A. *Comprehensive Organic Synthesis* Trost B. M., Fleming I., Eds.
 Pergamon Press: Oxford, 1991, Vol. 3, p 975 and references therein.
- 83. Burlison, J. A.; Gray, J. M.; Young, D. G. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 5363.
- 84. Krimen, L. I.; Cota, D. J. Org. React. 1969, 17, 213-325.
- 85. Charette, A. B.; Chua, P. Synlett **1998**,163.
- 86. El-Amouri, H.; Gruselle, M.; Jaouen, G.; Daran, J. C.; J. Vaissermann,
 J.; Gruselle, M. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 3238.
- 87. Young, D. G. J.; Burlison, J. A.; Peters, U. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 3494.
- 88. In rare cases, reactions mediated by propargyl-dicobalt cations have occurred with retention of configuration: (a). Caffyn, A. J. M; Nicholas,

K. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1993, 115, 6438 (b) Muehldorf, A. V.;
Guzman-Perez, A.; Kluge, A. F. Tetrahedron Lett., 1994, 35, 8755 (c)
Grée, D.; Madiot, V.; Grée, R. Tetrahedron Lett., 1999, 40, 6399 (d)
Mukai, C.; Ikeda, Y.; Sugimoto, Y.; Hanoaka, M. Tetrahedron Lett.,
1994, 35, 2179 (e) Mukai, C.; Sugimoto, Y.; Ikeda Y.; Hanoaka, M.
Tetrahedron, 1998, 54, 823.

- 89. Adio, A. M.; Paul, C.; Koening, W. A.; Muhle, H. Phytochem. 2003, 637.
- 90. DiMartino, J. Msc. Thesis, University of Windsor, **2004**.
- 91. Green, J. R.; Sheida, A. unpublished.

VITA AUCTORIS

Name	Ahmed Bashir Mohamed
Place of Birth	Mogadishu, Somalia
Year of Birth	1954
Education	Somali National University
	1982 B. Sc. (Sum Cum Laude)
	Ph.D (Organic Chemistry)
	University of Windsor
	Windsor, Ontario
	2005
Publications	Mohamed, A. B.; Masuda, J.; Green, J. R. Synlett
	2005, 1543.
	Mohamed, A. B.; Green, J. R. Chem.Commun.
	2003, 2936.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.